

Combating Poverty in Europe

Work Package 4 - The Europeanization of Active Inclusion Policies The European Arenas of Active Inclusion Policies



UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI MILANO DIPARTIMENTO DI SCIENZE SOCIALI E POLITICHE



Chiara Agostini Sebastiano Sabato Matteo Jessoula

University of Milan, Department of Social and Political Sciences (formerly DSLW)

Deliverable D 4.1

FP7 project 'Combating Poverty in Europe: Re-organising Active Inclusion through Participatory and Integrated Modes of Multilevel Governance' Grant Agreement no. 290488 Coordinating Organisation: Carl von Ossietzky Universität Oldenburg (CETRO)



This project is funded by the European Union under the 7th Framework Programme

Contents

Contents	2
Figures	3
Abbreviations	4
Foreword	5
1. Introduction	6
2. The early steps: combating poverty and social exclusion in a multilevel arena	7
3. Fighting poverty and social exclusion in the "Lisbon decade"	9
3.1. Lisbon I and the social OMC	9
3.2. Lisbon II and the second phase of the social OMC	12
3.3. The impact of the OMC in the Lisbon era	15
4. The peer reviews within the Social OMC	17
4.1. Objectives and themes	17
4.2. Governance and actor participation	18
4.3. Function, relevance and impact of peer review meetings: preliminary evidences	20
4.4. Combating poverty & promoting active inclusion via peer reviews	21
5. Europe 2020 and the fight against poverty and social exclusion	26
5.1. The new overarching strategy: Europe 2020	26
5.2. The new tool-kit for tackling poverty and social exclusion	27
6. A new arena for combating poverty	29
6.1. Poverty and social exclusion in the EU: main trends 2005-2011	29
6.2. A weak anti-poverty arena: multi-level and multi-stakeholder interaction in the framework of Europe 2020	39
7. Governance in the making: towards a more effective arena to combat poverty?	44
8. Conclusions	53
References	56
List of interviews	60
Annexes	61

Figures

Table 1 OMC I, primary and secondary indicators	11
Table 2 The objectives on poverty and social inclusion in Lisbon I and II	13
Table 3 OMC II, overarching and field specific indicators	13
Table 4 List of peer review meetings related to the fight against poverty and social exclusion , 2008-2012	23
Table 5 Europe 2020 and the new governance architecture for combating poverty and social exclusion	29
Table 6 People at risk of poverty or social exclusion (% of total population), 2004-2011	31
Table 7 People at risk of poverty or social exclusion, in %, and changes in pp 2010-2011, 2008-2011 and 2005-2011	35
Table 8 At risk of poverty rate in %, and changes in pp 2010-2011, 2008-2011 and 2005-2011	35
Table 9 Severe material deprivation rate, in % and changes in pp 2010-2011, 2008-2011 and 2005-2011	37
Table 10 Population living in quasi-jobless households, in %, and changes in pp 2010-2011, 2008-2011 and 2005-2011	37
Table 11 Summary of member states' situations concerning AROPE, AROP, SMD, LWI indicators	38
Table 12 Headline targets on poverty in 2011 and 2012 NRPs	41
Table 13 Priorities in the Annual Growth Surveys, 2011, 2012, 2013	45
Table 14 Country Specific Recommendations on poverty 2011	46
Table 15 Country Specific Recommendations on poverty 2012	47
Table 16 Objectives of the OMC for Social Protection and Social Inclusion	48
Table 17 Actions and directions set out in the "Social Investment Package"	50
Table 18 Active inclusion policies in the Member States	52
Figure 1 Percentage of people at risk of poverty or social exclusion (AROPE) 2005-2011, EU 27	30
Figure 2 People at risk of poverty or social exclusion (% of total population), selected years	30
Figure 3 People "at risk of poverty or social exclusion" (AROPE) and the three sub-indicators in the EU 27, 2005-2011	32

Boxes

Box 1 Key themes of peer review meetings, 2004-1118Box 2 Linking national and European Strategies: the Belgian peer review on "Minimum Income and Social26Integration Institutional Arrangements" (2005)26

Abbreviations

AGS	Annual Growth Survey
AROP	People at risk of poverty (EU 2020 indicator)
AROPE	People at risk of poverty or social exclusion
AROL	(EU 2020 indicator)
BEPGs	Broad Economic Guidelines
CSRs	
DG	Country Specific Recommendations
	Directorate General (European Commission)
DG Empl.	European Commission- Directorate General for
	Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion
EAPN	European Anti-Poverty Network
EC	European Commission
Ecofin	Economic and Financial Affairs Council
EEC	European Economic Community
EEGs	European Employment Guidelines
EES	European Employment Strategy
EPAP	European Platform Against Poverty and social
	exclusion
EPSCO	Employment, Social Policy, Health and
	Consumer Affairs Council
EU	European Union
IGs	Integrated Guidelines
LWI	People living in households with very low work
	intensity (EU 2020 indicator)
MS	EU member states
NAPs	National Action Plans
NAPs/Incl.	National Action Plans against poverty and
	social exclusion
NGO	Non-Governmental Organization
NLRPs	National Lisbon Reform Programs
NRPs	National Reform Programmes
NSRs	National Social Reports
OMC	Open method of coordination
OSE	European Social Observatory
PPMI	Public Policy and Management Institute
PROGRESS	Community Programme for Employment and
	Social Solidarity
SGP	Stability and Growth Pact
SPC	Social Protection Committee
SMD	People severely materially deprived (EU
	indicator)
SPPM	Social Protection Performance Monitor
N1 1 141	

Foreword

Reducing poverty and social exclusion is one of the main challenges for ensuring social cohesion in Europe. The research project COPE – Combating Poverty in Europe: Reorganising Active Inclusion through Participatory and Integrated Modes of Multilevel Governance' – analyses trends of poverty and social exclusion in Europe, and examines the dynamics of minimum income protection policies that potentially help alleviate the risk of poverty in Europe. A particular focus is on the situation of single parents, long-term unemployed and the working poor, who face particular risks of poverty and social exclusion. To what extent have minimum income policies functioned as last resort social security for these three groups, and in what sense can 'active inclusion' policies credited with protecting them from poverty and social exclusion?

Co-financed by the European Commission in the 7th Framework Programme, the COPE project unites researchers and stakeholders from six European countries, the UK, Italy, Poland, Sweden, and Norway. Having started in February 2012, COPE runs over a three-year period. COPE's method is comparative – analysing developments in five European countries (Poland, Germany, UK, Sweden and Italy). Its focus is inherently multi-level, looking in turn at developments at European, national and local level.

1. Introduction

Poverty is on the rise in Europe and recent austerity measures in several Member States (MS) might kill the "sick patient". Is the EU social policy tool-kit effective in combating poverty thus counterbalancing the consequences of unfavourable economic developments and fiscal consolidation strategies?

The fight against poverty and social exclusion has long been one of the main bricks of the European social dimension since the latter moved beyond the simple coordination of existing social security regimes in order to allow within Europe labour mobility. Though the elaboration of a supranational anti-poverty strategy did not challenge national competence in the field – social sovereignty remaining firmly in the hands of MS' governments – the launch of "soft" processes of policy coordination in the early-2000s (i.e. the Open Method of Coordination – OMC, cf. Heidenreich and Zeitlin 2009) has led to the gradual emergence of a multilevel policy arena characterized by specific rules, procedures as well as objectives, actors, (more or less) formalized interactions and, last but not least, increasingly shared knowledge.

The launch of Europe 2020 strategy in 2010, including quantitative poverty targets and the Flagship initiative "The European Platform Against Poverty and Social Exclusion" was welcomed by the literature as a relevant step forward in the EU anti-poverty strategy (Marlier et al. 2011). By contrast, more recent contributions have cast doubts on the effectiveness of both the new strategy and more generally the EU in combating poverty and social exclusion (Daly and Copeland 2012; Peña-Casas 2012).

Against this backdrop, this paper aims to analyse the changing European framework for combating poverty and social exclusion since the origins, between the late-1970s and the mid-1980s, until the recent implementation of the Europe 2020 anti-poverty strategy. The paper is structured as follows. The second paragraph briefly sketches the early steps of supranational bodies in the fight against poverty until the mid-1990s. Section 3 deals with the launch, implementation and the 2005 revision of the Social OMC as well as the formulation of the European strategy for "Active Inclusion" with the 2008 Recommendation. The analytical lenses will be especially posed on the objectives, the procedures, the governance structure and the participation of relevant actors in this innovative process of "soft" policy coordination in a multilevel arena. The fourth paragraph provides a preliminary investigation of a crucial - albeit relatively unexplored - component of the social OMC: the "peer review" meetings constituting an interesting arena for an in-depth study of multilevel and multistakeholder interactions in the field of poverty and social exclusion. Paragraphs 6 and 7 constitute the core part of this report providing an analysis of both the architecture of Europe 2020 anti-poverty and social exclusion component and its actual implementation in the first two and a half cycles, that is from 2011 to March 2013.

By focusing on a few analytical dimensions, the report presents a preliminary assessment of the new framework for social policy coordination and particularly of the anti-poverty strategy. More in details, in accordance with the analytical framework of COPE we aim to capture to what extent the new anti-poverty arena represented by Europe 2020 is characterized by effective *multilevel* and *multi-stakeholder interaction* as well as *integration of different policy* fields in order to reach the ultimate goal of poverty reduction. In other words, the three main analytical dimensions relevant for our investigation are: i) *multilevel governance*, that is the existence of interactions among different levels of government and the type of such interaction within the framework of Europe 2020 and the European Semester; ii) *multi-stakeholder participation*, which can be detected both at the supranational and the

national (and, in case, local) level; iii) *integration*, that is policy coordination at the various level of government in order to reach the EU2020 poverty target.

Relying on preliminary empirical evidences gathered for the period 2011-2013 we argue that the current EU anti-poverty tool-kit actually presents both weaknesses and strengths. On the one hand, the suspension of the main components of the social OMC when Europe 2020 was launched as well as the bias towards fiscal consolidation and economic recovery – both at the national and supranational level - within the European semester significantly reduce the effectiveness of EU anti-poverty strategies. Interestingly, however, on the other hand, next to typical learning dynamics prompted by soft coordination mechanism the gradual emergence of a multilevel and highly visible anti-poverty arena around Europe 2020 may be detected, characterized by open stakeholder mobilization and political pressure as well as innovative policy proposal on the side of EU bodies aimed at achieving the 2020 poverty target.

2. The early steps: combating poverty and social exclusion in a multilevel arena

The European project primarily being launched as an economic endeavour, the 1957 Treaty of Rome establishing the European Economic Community (EEC) contained only a few and "extremely ambiguous" articles regarding the possibility of Community actions in the social policy domain (Rhodes 2005: 285). Indeed, the logic underpinning the new born EEC implied a clear separation between the European economic and the social dimensions, with integrated economic policies at the European level and the welfare state being left in the hands of MS.¹ Consequently, social policy provisions enacted under the Community method mainly concerned issues that were strictly linked to the creation of the single market and aimed at facilitating the free circulation of workers. When looking at those provisions, it is thus possible to conclude that, until the 1990s, «the most surprisingly feature of the European Community (EC) social policy is, perhaps, that it should be any at all» (Cram, 1993:135).

Though not apparent in the Treaties or in EEC directives or regulations, attempts aimed at both gradually extending the scope of EU discourses concerning the social sphere and claiming a major role for supranational actors in domains considered exclusive competence of MS were undertaken since the 1970s. These attempts - which can be depicted as a long process of agenda setting (Pochet, 2005) - were conducted by a series of actors (among which the European Commission stands out) able to exploit the narrow margin for manoeuvre offered by the existing Treaties, using instruments such as community programs, studies, creation of networks, resolutions, Commission communications and recommendations².

¹ In this sense Fritz Scharpf (2002) argued about "decoupling" of social and economic policies.

² Philippe Pochet interpreted the emergence of employment and social policies in the European Union as the result of the struggle between two groups of actors: <<the "socially oriented actors" (Ministries of Labour, trade unions, (centre-)left governments, members of the European Parliament, high civil servants in the Commission, etc.) mobilise to control the reform agenda at the European level against the "economically oriented actors" (Ecofin Council, Economic and Financial Committee, Economic Policy Committee, (centre-) right governments, etc.>> (Pochet 2005:). Many authors - among which Cram (1993) and Bauer (2002) - agree that, in this process, the European Commission has been a key actor whose role can be described as << [...] that of expanding the frontiers of the possible. Making use of its bureaucratic skills, building upon EC declarations, instituting social programs, setting up observatories and carrying out research projects, the Commission is continually preparing for the next opportunity to create new policies>> (Cram, 1993: 144). To this regard, Bauer (2002) refers to "discourse framing", intending a strategy of the European Commission which , through problem definition and by suggesting possible policy responses, paves the way for a future involvement in policy actions.

Against this backdrop, the gradual diffusion of the concept of 'social exclusion' in the European discourse is a typical example of such developments. Social exclusion was actually a French notion which emphasized multidimensionality of underprivileged social conditions when compared to the traditional concept of 'poverty'. Together with multidimensionality, the "vagueness" of the former notion was behind its greater political acceptability³. The concept first entered the community discourse in the 1970s, when the first of a series of 'Poverty Programmes' was launched.

The 'Poverty Programme' 1975-80 funded activities – such as studies, information exchange and evaluation, creation of networks among national projects leaders - aimed at providing information on the nature of the phenomenon of poverty in MS, while the following programmes (1985-1988 and 1989-1994) were more explicitly aimed at reframing the concept of poverty in terms of "social exclusion", the latter being understood as a community-wide phenomenon requiring a community-wide response (Bauer, 2002).

After the launch of the first Poverty Programme, the concept of social exclusion gained ground in the community policy discourse during the Delors Presidency in the mid-80s, (Ferrera et al. 2002). In that period a first attempt was actually made to build a political and institutional space for the social dimension of the internal market (Ferrera 2005) but, also due to the predominance of centre-right governments across MS, this aspiration did not translate into binding legislation.

The late 1980s-early 1990s nevertheless represented a turning point for the intervention of the European community in the social domain. Not only two relevant though non-binding documents such as the "Resolution of the Council of Ministers for Social Affairs on Combating Social Exclusion" (1989) and the "Community Charter of Fundamental Social Rights for Workers" (1989) were adopted, but also an "Observatory on national policies to combat social exclusion" (1990-1994) was created. Composed by academics and charged with the task of producing studies and annual reports, the Observatory played an important role in the elaboration of the concept of social exclusion (Ferrera et al. 2002).

With the Council Resolution, for the first time the concept of social exclusion was explicitly mentioned in a community document. It was recognised as a multidimensional phenomenon caused by the structural transformations of European economies and societies. In order to cope with this, economic development policies should be combined with «[...] integration policies of a specific, systematic and coherent nature» (Council 1989: §4).

The "Community Charter of Fundamental Social Rights for Workers" - adopted by all MS except the UK - represented the basis for important further actions including two relevant Council Recommendations enacted in 1992: "Council Recommendation of 24 June 1992 on common criteria concerning sufficient resources and social assistance in social protection systems" (92/441/CEE) and "Council Recommendation of 27 July 1992 on the Convergence of social protection objectives and policies" (92/442/CEE). The first Recommendation, after inviting MS to recognise «[...] the basic right of a person to sufficient resources and social assistance to live in a manner compatible with human dignity as a part of a comprehensive and consistent drive to combat social exclusion [...]» (Council 1992: IA), sketches how by the supranational bodies could support them in adapting their social protection systems. To this end, the European Commission was invited to facilitate and organise, together with MS, the systematic exchange of information and experiences and the continuous evaluation of the

³ Indeed, the emergence and the gradual diffusion of the concept of "social exclusion" at the European level were due to its "vagueness" and "flexibility" (see Armstrong 2010; Bauer 2002; Ferrera et al. 2002, Hvinden and Halvorsen 2012). It is important to state that the new concept has never completely replaced the traditional concept of "poverty". On the contrary, both "the language of poverty" and "the language of social exclusion" continue to be used at the same time (Armstrong 2010).

national provisions adopted. Moreover, based on this information, the European Commission was asked to regularly draft reports describing the progress and obstacles encountered in implementing the recommendation. The second Recommendation - beyond restating the method through which the co-operation in the social protection domain was to be undertaken - defined its aim that is the convergence of MS' social protection objectives and policies⁴. Looking at the objectives and the method outlined by the two Recommendations, it is possible to say that they represented a sort of 'OMC in embryonic form' (Ferrera et al. 2002) or an 'unfinished OMC' (Pochet 2005).

Last but not least, in the 1990s the Commission started to support as well as fund the creation of networks of community level Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs) dealing with poverty and social exclusion. These networks were particularly able in attracting media attention on those issues, thus putting pressures on national governments (Bauer 2002).

Despite increasing attention at the European level, attempts by some MS to include a Social Chapter in the Maastricht Treaty failed and only a "Social Protocol" attached to the Treaty was elaborated – this applying to all MS except the UK. However, the entrance of the concepts of social exclusion in the language of the Treaties was simply postponed.

In fact, in 1997 a Title on "Social policy, education, vocational training and youth" (Title XI) was included in the Treaty of Amsterdam and the article no. 136 for the first time in the history of European integration explicitly mentioned the fight against social exclusion in the Treaties (Ferrera et al. 2002) as well as recognised it as both an EU's and MS' objective. Articles 137-140 described the tools to pursue this objective: on the one hand, elaborating directives on minimum requirements, on the other hand encouraging cooperation and facilitating the coordination of national policies.

Undoubtedly, Title XI represented a strong legal basis for EU actions in the social domain at least compared to the past; differently from employment policies, however, the procedures to implement coordination of national social policies were not defined in an explicit way (Title VII of the Treaty). For this reason, while the coordination of national employment policies via the European employment strategy (EES) was launched in 1998 already, it was only with the decisions taken at the EU Lisbon Summit in 2000 that a similar process in the social domain was effectively launched. Notably, it first concerned the fight against poverty and social exclusion.

3. Fighting poverty and social exclusion in the "Lisbon decade"

3.1. Lisbon I and the social OMC

In the framework of the Lisbon Strategy, the aim "to become the most competitive and dynamic knowledge-based economy in the world" was to be pursued, among other things, through the fight against poverty and social exclusion. The first phase of the Lisbon Strategy (Lisbon I, 2000-2005) relied on the idea of a "socio-economic policy triangle" in which "more and better jobs", "social cohesion" and "economic growth and competitiveness" had equal weight (Zeitlin 2010).

In this phase, the OMC on poverty and social exclusion was launched, based on a biennial cycle. This started with the adoption of "Common Objectives", followed by the presentation of "National Action Plans" (NAPs) by MS and the adoption of a "Joint Inclusion Report" by

⁴ As synthesized by Philippe Pochet (2005: 64), <<[...] from this moment onwards the goal was to concentrate efforts on objectives rather than institutional arrangements. In other words, common goals can be achieved via different means>>.

the Commission and the Council. Furthermore, the process included the elaboration of "Common Indicators" and was supported by the "Community Programme of Action" (Peña-Casas 2002). Since 2004, "peer review meetings" involving national and EC officials, stakeholders and experts have been funded through the Community Programme of Action. Those meetings aimed at identifying, discussing and possibly exchanging MS' good practices in the fields of poverty and social exclusion (see below section 4).

Objectives and indicators

The "Common objectives" in the fight against poverty and social exclusion were adopted at the Nice European Council, in December 2000 (see below table 2). These objectives showed a programmatic character and proposed a multi-causal view of poverty and social exclusion (Daly 2006). They were very innovative albeit very general. "Taken together, they spelt an approach that married access to employment, rights, resources, goods and services with helping the most vulnerable, preventing social exclusion and activating a range of interests and bodies" (Daly 2007, 5). The European Council invited MS to develop their priorities related to the fixed objectives and to define indicators and monitoring mechanisms to measure progress. The Nice objectives were general and flexible enough to be received in different ways by MS. This reflected the purpose of letting MS free to determine their priorities. In the "National Action Plans against poverty and social exclusion" (NAPs/incl) member states had to indicate strategies aimed to achieve the common objectives as well as to report on adopted reforms and policies. The "Common indicators" represented the basis to compare member states with regard to some keys aspects of poverty and social exclusion (see Annex 1). In particular, these indicators were used to draft the joint reports and for the reports that the Commission produceed each spring to evaluate the progress of the Lisbon Strategy. In December 2001 the Council adopted a set of eighteen indicators (table 1 and annex 1) covering four dimension of social exclusion to be used by member states in their NAPs/incl and by the Council and the Commission for the "Joint Inclusion Report". The "Joint evaluation of the process" implied two steps. The Commission made a first analysis of the NAPs/incl and published a preliminary report. This report was discussed with member states. After that, the Joint inclusion report was adopted. Finally, the "Community Programme of Action" to combat poverty and social exclusion aimed to encourage cooperation between member states, social partners, NGOs and also the poors. The actions proposed in the framework of this programme included three main dimensions: 1) improving the understanding of social inclusion; 2) organizing exchange on policies and promoting mutual learning in the context of national actions plans; 3) developing actors' ability in adreessing social exclusion effectively.

Governance and actor participation

Since the beginning, the OMC explicitly referred to the need to include all concerned actors both civil society and governmental actors. In 2000, the Social Protection Committee (SPC) was established to serve "as a vehicle for cooperative exchange between MS and the European Commission in the framework of the OMC on social inclusion, health care and long-term care as well as pensions"⁵. The Committee was expected to deal with four different social policy sectors among which "poverty and social inclusion". Two representatives from each MS and two representatives from the Commission composed the SPC. They prepared reports and formulated opinions as a result of requests from either the Council or the

⁵ CF. EU Commission website : http://ec.europa.eu/social.

Commission, or as their own initiatives. Also, the Committee should establish contacts with social partners and more generally stakeholders.

Table 1 OMC I, primary and secondary indicators

	Primary indicators									
1a	Low income rate after transfers with breakdowns by age and gender									
1b	Low income rate after transfers with breakdowns by most frequent activity status									
1c	Low income rate after transfers with breakdowns by household type									
1d	Low income rate after transfers with breakdowns by tenure status									
1e	Low income threshold (illustrative values)									
2	Distribution of income									
3	Persistence of low income									
4	Relative median low income gap									
5	Regional cohesion									
6	Long term unemployment rate									
7	Persons living in jobless households									
8	Early school leavers not in education or training									
9	Life expectancy at birth									
	Secondary indicators									
10	Self-defined health status by income level.									
11	Dispersion around the low income threshold									
12	Low income rate anchored at a moment in time									
13	Low income rate before transfers									
14	Gini coefficient									
15	Persistence of low income (below 50% of median income)									
16	Long term unemployment share									
17	Very long term unemployment rate									
18	Persons with low educational attainment									

Stakeholders involved in social inclusion policies can be distinguished in: 1) "decisionmakers in charge of policy decisions" – supranational bodies, national governments and parliaments, bureaucratic organizations as well as regional and local authorities; 2) "secondary stakeholders" such as trade unions, employers, vulnerable groups, advocacy and representative organizations – who are intermediaries in the decision making process and have stake in the policy field; 3) "primary stakeholders" who are mainly affected by policies, such as people experiencing poverty and social exclusion, but also the general citizenship (INBAS and ENGENDER 2012). Finally, experts and media complete the picture of the policy stage.

As noted by Peña-Casas (2004), it is possible to identify six different ways of stakeholder involvement in the social inclusion OMC or more generally increase awareness in the population. The first regards the "reinforcing of dialogue at national level": some member states established commissions or consultative committees involving the different actors on poverty and social inclusion. The second concerns "promoting partnership at local level" in order to bring together knowledge and resources of different actors. In this case, the central idea is that the approach developed at national level is translated into integrated actions at ground level. The third aims at "involving NGOs and civil society" in the fight against poverty and social exclusion. The NGOs play an important role by both participating in the

formulation of national plans and policies and in work on the ground. The fourth way regards the "involvement of social partners" in the formulation of the national plans. The fifth concerns the creation of a wider "public awareness of poverty and of the process clinked to the NAPs inclusion": some countries have actually published the plans or have organized ad hoc conferences to present them. The sixth regards the promotion of the "Corporate Social Responsibility" of business as an element for promoting social integration.

At the supranational level a number of stakeholders have mobilized to influence the outcome of the social inclusion OMC. Among non-governmental and civil society organizations, the "European Anti-Poverty Network" (EAPN) can be considered the most active and influential. EAPN worked on gathering information about the objectives of the social inclusion OMC and on participation of social partners and NGOs in the drafting of national strategies and NAPs; it also contributed to the debate on indicators and played a role in each round of the Action Plans for inclusion (de la Porte and Pochet 2005).

3.2. Lisbon II and the second phase of the social OMC

In 2005 the Lisbon Strategy was re-launched (Lisbon II) and a novel focus was posed on growth and jobs. Broadly speaking, the core of Lisbon II was the merge of the European Employment Guidelines (EEGs) with the Broad Economic Guidelines (BEGs) for Growth and Jobs in a single set of 24 Integrated Guidelines (IGs) for Growth and Jobs, divided in three parts: "macroeconomic", "microeconomic", "employment".

In line with the new architecture, NAPs/employment and the Joint employment report were replaced by a single section inside the National Lisbon Reform Programmes (NLRPs) and the Annual Lisbon Progress Report prepared by the Commission (Armstrong, Begg, Zeitlin 2008). Meanwhile the three strands of the Social OMC regarding social inclusion, pension, health care and long-term care were "streamlined" into a single OMC. This new architecture should provide a framework in which economic, employment and social policies mutually reinforce each other, ensuring progresses on employment creation, competitiveness and social cohesion. This "mutual reinforcing" should have been provided by the relationship between the new Social OMC and the IGs for Growth and Jobs both at the national and the European level (Zeitlin 2010).

Objectives and indicators

The OMC features in Lisbon II were slightly different from those of the first phase. The new OMC was based on common objectives divided in "overarching objectives" valid for the three strands, and three groups of "specific objectives" for each sector. The "common objectives" on poverty and social exclusion were significantly changed (see table 2). First, the approach was no more universalistic, because it referred to "social exclusion" as a phenomenon regarding the most marginalized people only. Second, in Lisbon II the reference to "activation" as participation in the labour market was prominent. For this reason, the references to "social exclusion" were reduced and replaced by the references to "social inclusion". Third, there was a novel emphasis on the efficiency of the various policies as well as their interaction. Fourth, there was no more attention to the "prevention" of social exclusion. It was therefore evident that the Lisbon II approach was much less comprehensive than the Lisbon I (Daly 2007).

Table 2 The objectives on poverty and social inclusion in Lisbon I and II

Lisbon I	Lisbon II
To facilitate participation in employment and access by all to resources, rights, goods and services	Guarantee access by all to the basic resources, rights and social services needed for participation in society, while addressing extreme forms of exclusion and fighting all forms of discrimination leading to exclusion
To help the most vulnerable	Ensure the active inclusion of all by promoting participation in the labour market and by fighting poverty and exclusion among the most marginalised people and groups
To mobilise all relevant bodies	Ensure that social inclusion policies are well-coordinated and involve all levels of government and relevant actors, including people experiencing poverty, that they are efficient and effective and mainstreamed into all
To prevent the risks of exclusion	public policies that they are gender mainstreamed
Sources: Daly (2007, 6)	

Despite changes, the "indicators" remained central also in the new OMC and were further elaborated in 2006 and updated in 2009. They were divided in "overarching indicators" and "specific indicators" for each of three strands plus additional so called "context indicators" (see table 3 and annex 2). Finally, the *PROGRESS programme* renewed the past "community programme of action" for the 2007/2013 and extended the actions also toward the new two strands of OMC on social protection and inclusion.

Table 3 OMC II, overarching and field specific indicators

Ove	erarching indicators
1a	EU: At-risk-of-poverty rate
1b	EU: Relative median poverty risk gap
2	EU: S80/S20
3	NAT: Healthy life expectancy
4	EU: Early school leavers
5	EU: People living in jobless households
6	NAT: Projected Total Public Social expenditures
7a	EU: Median relative income of elderly people
7b	EU: Aggregate replacement ratio
8	NAT: Self reported unmet need for medical care; NAT: Care utilisation
9	EU: At-risk-of-poverty rate anchored at a fixed moment in time (2004)
10	EU: Employment rate of older workers
11	EU: In-work poverty risk
12	EU: Activity rate
13	NAT: Regional disparities – coefficient of variation of employment rates
14	NAT: total health expenditure per capita
Soci	ial inclusion indicators
1	EU: At-risk-of poverty rate
2	EU: Persistent at-risk of poverty rate
3	EU: Relative median poverty risk gap
4	EU: Long term unemployment rate
5	EU: Population living in jobless households
6	EU: Early school leavers not in education or training
7	EU: Poverty risk by household type
8	EU: Poverty risk by the work intensity of households
9	EU: Poverty risk by most frequent activity status
10	EU: Poverty risk by accommodation tenure status
11	EU: Dispersion around the at-risk-of-poverty threshold
12	EU: Persons with low educational attainment
13	Low reading literacy performance of pupils

Governance and actor participation

Procedures were not significantly changed, apart from the cycle which was made triennial (previously biennial). The "National Strategic Reports on Social Inclusion and Protection" were prepared by MS at the beginning of the cycle and covered the entire three-year period. These reports provided an overview of developments in the three sectors in each MS and fixed national priorities. Same as in Lisbon I, the "joint analysis reports" summarized the main issues and evaluated the MS progresses on the common objectives, identified future priorities and indicated the best practices to be followed.

For what concerns stakeholder involvement, a recent research highlighted that, since 2000, the majority of MS has favoured a broad involvement in the elaboration of NAPs. However, in some MS the OMC is more a "reporting" activity rather than a strategic process. In more than half of countries, ministers were actively involved in the development of national plans, in others they only signed them. Parliamentary involvement was low in many countries: only in one third of countries NAPs have been debated or approved in parliament. Secondary stakeholders - and in particular NGOs representative of poor people - were involved in the OMC in all member states, though in some cases such participation was limited (i.e. invitation to meetings). Social partners were involved in all member states: in two third of countries they commented on national reports, in five countries they formally approved them. Finally, people experiencing poverty were directly involved in only half of member states.

With regard to the stage of the "policy cycle", several stakeholders were involved in the preparation of the national programmes. In the implementation phase, the administration in charge of social inclusion policies is generally the main actor; in the monitoring and evaluation phases participation remains low.

"Policy coordination" among all levels of government is present in all member states except for three; as for the horizontal/inter-ministerial coordination four countries have a permanent body, while in fourteen member states ministries are involved in ad hoc consultations. The impact of stakeholders involvement seems to be positive and EAPN in particular has been able to forge coalitions to promote an effective dialogue with governments in a number of member states (INBAS and ENGENDER 2012).

Another recent research (PPMI 2011) confirmed that the OMC has been quite successful in involving non-state actors especially at the European level. The social inclusion strand of the Social OMC can be considered as having the highest level of stakeholders involved. This proves that the OMC has had a strong procedural impact, in particular for what concerns the preparation of the National Strategic Reforms: governments involve NGOs in producing NSRs. At present, the impact of this interaction gave mixed results. In some cases, NGOs had some influence on the content of NSRs and the OMC thus increased the influence of non-state actors. By contrast, in other cases consultation with stakeholders was only formal and it did not continue when the process of designing NSRs was completed. Also, the vertical coordination between the different levels of governments was not improved under the umbrella of the OMC. In many cases the OMC is a "centralized" process, in which regional and local governments are excluded and, consequently, perceive the OMC as either irrelevant or an administrative obligation. The impact of OMC was possibly greater in case of horizontal rather than vertical coordination. Consultation with non-state actors has become a normal practice though it has sometimes remained a formality (PPMI 2011).

In addition to changes in the Social OMC architecture, the Lisbon decade was also characterized by the adoption of a Recommendation on the active inclusion of people excluded from labour market by the European Commission in October 2008 (European Commission 2008). The aim of the Recommendation was to "facilitate the integration into sustainable, quality employment of those who can work and provide resources which are sufficient to live in dignity, together with support for social participation, for those who cannot" (article 1). Accordingly the Commission proposed a plan based on three pillars: 1) adequate income support; 2) inclusive labour markets; 3) access to quality services.

The first pillar recognizes «the individual's basic right to resource and social assistance sufficient to lead a life that is compatible with human dignity». The provision of income support is considered as a part of a wider strategy to fight social exclusion; in this framework, the right to sufficient resources should be combined with active availability for work or training. The second pillar calls for developing arrangements able to ensure that people receive help - to enter/re-enter labour market or remain in employment - corresponding to their work capacity. The third pillar calls for adopting measures aimed to ensure "access to quality services". In particular, measures should be taken to improve services in the fields of active labour market policies - such as employment and training services - housing support, child-care, long-term care.

3.3. The impact of the OMC in the Lisbon era

The literature on the poverty and social inclusion OMC highlighted that in assessing Social OMC we can see both lights and shadows.

Following Zeitlin (2010), the OMC should be considerate as a case of success from different points of view. The first one regards substantive policy change. In many member states, the OMC helped to increase the ambition and the salience of national employment and social policies. In these member states the domestic debate incorporated the categories and the concepts proposed at the European level realizing a "cognitive shift". This process helped to change also the national policy agenda (putting new issues, or promoting an increase of their salience) realizing a "political shift". Finally, the objectives, the guidelines, the recommendations and the targets linked to the OMC contributed to change national policies, determining a "programmatic shift". A second positive impact of OMC is the procedural *shift* in the domestic policy making and governance. In particular the European Employment Strategy (EES) and the Social OMC promoted a better horizontal coordination and a transversal integration of previously independent policy sectors; they reinforced vertical coordination between the different levels of government, improved the statistical capacity and increased the involvement of non-state actors also favouring the development of networks. A third form of influence concerns mutual learning processes. From this point of view the impact of the OMC regards, for example, the identification of common challenges, the promotion of specific policy approaches and statistical harmonization (Zeitlin 2010).

Furthermore, as it has been noted (Daly 2010) that, in terms of social policy substance, the Lisbon era favoured the emersion of four social policy issues. First, the "active inclusion" of people out of the labour market: this issue was developed through the Recommendation from the Commission on active inclusion. Second, "child poverty and child well-being" supported by a thematic year on this issue (2007) and the adoption of a specific report by the Social Protection Committee. Third, "homelessness and housing exclusion" that have been central in the OMC have also been subject of two thematic years. Forth, within the approach developed during the Lisbon decade there is a general recognition of the "importance of availability of a range of social service". At the same time the Lisbon decade has promoted the development of several shared indicators for meaningful comparison of poverty and social exclusion trends across Europe.

Other strengths have been pointed out by Frazer and Marlier (2011). The Social OMC: 1) helped to put social inclusion and social issues in the EU agenda; 2) at EU level, it highlighted both the importance of mutual reinforcement between economic, social and employment policies and the need to consider as well as assess the social impact of measures adopted in these fields; 3) it favoured the development of shared concepts (such as multidimensionality) and the identification of/agreement on key policy priorities in the three Social OMC strands; 4) it prompted learning processes on the best strategies to prevent and reduce poverty; 5) it favoured relevant progresses in improving data, defining common indicators and developing a stronger analytical framework in order to understand, assess and monitor the social phenomena; 6) it promoted the improvement of governance of social inclusion in many member states. In particular, the OMC supported the diffusion of the idea that the fight against poverty has to integrate various policy sectors and involve different stakeholders; 7) it was very useful in promoting social inclusion in those member states that chose to fully use OMC; 8) it ensured that the need tackle the impact of economic and financial crises was included in the EU debate; 9) it helped mobilise several actors also promoting the emergence of networks and it has given voice to socially excluded people; 10) 2010 has been made the European Year for Combating Poverty and Social Exclusion thanks to the Social OMC.

Despite these positive developments favoured by the Social OMC, the process clearly failed when considering policy outcomes, namely the impact on poverty: only little progress was made in achieving the targets set in Lisbon. This limited impact can be explained, first, considering the low political status and the lack of political leadership at the EU level compared with other strands of the Lisbon agenda such as Growth and Job. When Lisbon has launched the mutually reinforcing nature of economic, employment and social was not adequately emphasized. In theory, the Social OMC should have interacted with the Growth and Job agenda but this did not translate into practice. Second, the Social OMC remained a "soft" coordination process without sanctions for member states that did not reach targets, as the Commission was not entitled to issue policy recommendations for member states. Furthermore, the lack of a clear quantitative social target until 2010 diminished the status of the Social OMC compared to employment and economic policies. At the national level member states have failed to integrate the Social OMC into the national policy making and in many members states the NAPS/inclusion process resulted in a rather bureaucratic exercise. Finally, the Social OMC has not been supported by adequate financial resources (Frazer and Marlier 2010).

In addition, the first phase of the OMC was criticized to be weak in its strategic focus and for the multiplication of targets, objectives and coordination processes, and the governance architecture introduced by Lisbon II showed a number of limitations. First, the visibility of employment policy coordination was reduced by the integration of European Employment Guidelines and Broad Economic Guidelines and by the missing NAPs/employment. Second, an institutional mechanism able to ensure the mutually reinforcing feedback between economic, employment and social dimensions was absent, and the feedback remain weak. Third, implementation of NRPs at the national level lacked visibility and the involvement of non-state actors was not able to affect policy substance. Fourth, the shift from multilateral policy coordination to bilateral reform dialogue between the Commission and member states proved extremely difficult to manage. The persistence of a weak process of "mutual reinforcing" between economic employment and social policies gave rise to a debate about how best reinforce the social dimension of Lisbon. Two different positions emerged. The first pushed to incorporate the social objectives into the Integrated Guidelines (IGs) and to better connect Social OMC with the Lisbon Strategy. The second argued to keep IGs unchanged while focusing on better implementing national reforms. The adopted solution maintained the IGs unchanged for 2008-2011 but their social dimension was reinforced by the revision of the accompanying explanatory text that emphasized the need for reinforced interaction with the Social OMC (Zeitlin 2010).

4. The peer reviews within the Social OMC

Partly based on the model provided by the meetings organized since 1999 in the context of the European Employment Strategy, peer review meetings have been organized since 2004 in the framework of the Open method of coordination for the fight against poverty and social exclusion. In 2006, after the streamlining of the three existing processes and the launch of the Social OMC, the peer review methodology has been extended to the sectors of pensions, healthcare and long-term care policies. In the period between 2004 and 2006 peer review meetings were funded through the "Community action program to combat social exclusion"; since 2007 they have been funded through the "PROGRESS" programme.

4.1. Objectives and themes

In a nutshell, peer reviews are seminars lasting $1 \frac{1}{2} - 2$ days hosted by a single country (*host countries*) and attended by other countries (*peer countries*)⁶ as well as by other actors such as European Commission officers, stakeholders' representatives and experts. The main goal of the meetings is to promote mutual learning dynamics among participating states through << [...] the identification and dissemination of good practices on the basis of a systematic exchange of experiences and evaluation of policies, actions, programs or institutional arrangements [...]>> (ÖSB *et al.*: 4).

More in details, the specific objectives of these meetings are (*ibidem*: 5):

 contributing to a better understanding of Member States' policies, as laid down in their National Reports on Strategies for Social Protection and Social Inclusion and of their impact;
 increasing efficiency and effectiveness of policies and strategies for social inclusion, pensions, healthcare and long-term care in present and future Member States and at EU level, by learning from the experiences in the Member States;

3) facilitating the transfer of key components of policies or of institutional arrangements, which have proved effective in their original context and are relevant to other contexts.

Different issues can be proposed as topics for the peer reviews. Firstly, domestic policies, strategies or institutional arrangements recognised as particularly effective in order to reach the objectives of the Social OMC: generally, so called "good practices" are identified in Member States' "National Strategy Reports on Social Protection and Social Inclusion" already. Secondly, host countries can be identified by looking at their (good) performance in relation to common indicators. Thirdly, participating states can propose to discuss a planned policy reform: in this case, they can exploit the meeting for taking advantage of the experiences and good practices in other countries, thus improving the effectiveness of the envisaged domestic reform. Finally, instead of presenting domestic practices, meetings can also address issues or policy problems which are salient at the supranational EU level. Proposed practices should fulfil the following criteria: i) evaluation results or, at least, early monitoring data should be available (or, preparation reports in case of planned reforms); ii)

⁶ Peer reviews are open to all the countries participating to the PROGRESS program: EU Member States, Norway, Serbia, Croatia.

the practices should be relevant to the objectives of the Social OMC and to the strategic priorities of the Social Protection Committee.

Indeed, meetings held in the period 2004-2011 (66 meetings) concerned a set of *key themes* (see Box 1) strictly linked to the objectives of the Social OMC (and to the former Nice objectives)⁷.

Box 1 Key themes of peer review meetings, 2004-11

Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants;
 Quality and accessibility of social services;
 Homelessness and housing exclusion;
 Children and families;
 Promoting active inclusion;
 Over-indebtedness and financial exclusion;
 Ageing and providing adequate and sustainable pensions;
 Health and long-term care;
 Interaction of social, economic and employment policies;
 Governance

4.2. Governance and actor participation

As far as the organisation of the meetings is concerned, it is important to stress that Member States voluntarily decide to host and/or attend peer reviews. Through their representatives in the SPC, countries interested in hosting a meeting send their proposals - i.e. a sheet which synthetically illustrates the topic to be reviewed - to the European Commission-DG Employment and Social Affairs. Then, DG Empl. asks other member states to select and rank four meetings they would like to attend as peer countries. The most preferred proposals are selected and the DG Empl. drafts the peer review schedule for the following year. In the period 2004-2011, on average eight meetings per year have been organised. In the selection process as well as in the subsequent organisational phases and during the meetings themselves the DG Empl. is assisted by an external consultancy.

As mentioned above, peer review meetings are attended by several actors⁸:

- A *thematic independent expert* selected by the consultancy and approved by the EC. Before the meeting, he/she drafts a *Discussion paper* in which the practise under review is discussed and put in a wider EU comparative perspective. This document, distributed before the meeting, represents the main reference for the papers that the other participants must produce. Moreover, the thematic expert should actively contribute to discussion during the meeting and he must produce a *Synthesis report* (that is, a revised version of the Discussion including the main results of the peer review) after the meeting;

- Official representatives from the host country. They are civil servants charged with either the design or the management/implementation of the practice under review. Together with the national and the thematic experts, they present the practice during the meeting. In collaboration with the national expert, they should elaborate the *Host country Comment paper*, which is a document focused on the presentation of the practice under review and its

⁷ Each meeting generally covers more than one theme. A list of peer review meetings held in the period 2004-2011 is provided in Annex 3.

⁸ Roughly 30 to 40 people usually attend the meetings. The number of people involved depends on the number of states which attend the seminar (up to 7-8 countries per meeting) and on the number of people composing the host country delegation.

evaluation results. Host country official representatives are responsible for the practical organisation of the meeting and one of them assumes the role of *chairperson* of the seminar.

- *National independent expert from the host country*. Selected by the host country, he/she must have an in-depth knowledge of the practice under review. In collaboration with host country officials, he/she drafts the Host country Comment paper.

- Official representatives and independent experts from the peer countries. Each peer country is represented in the meeting by one national official and one independent expert⁹. Beyond actively participating to discussions during the meetings, peer countries' representatives are asked to produce *Peer countries Comment papers*. Those documents should provide a description of the domestic situation in relation to the practice under review (including similarities and differences) and a first evaluation of the potential for transferability of the practice in their domestic contexts.

- The host country's member of the "Network of Independent experts on Social Inclusion".

- *Representatives of European and (if appropriate) national stakeholders.* Each seminar is attended by representatives from two EU level stakeholder organisations invited by the European Commission. They are generally EU-level NGOs funded under the PROGRESS program and, same as peer countries, they have to produce *Comment papers* expressing their views on the topic under review. While the presence of EU level stakeholders is mandatory, it is up to the host countries to decide if inviting national stakeholders' representatives.

- *Representatives of the European Commission*. One or two representatives from the European Commission (generally from the DG Employment and Social Affairs) attend the meetings and contribute to discussions.

- *Staff from the consultancy assisting the EC in the peer review programme*. Among them, there are a *Peer Review manager* (who is responsible for the practical implementation of the peer review, including the facilitation of the debate) and a *professional minutes-taker*.

A typical peer review meeting is composed by several activities: *plenary sessions* in which the practice under review is presented and discussed by pointing at both strength and weaknesses, comparing it with the community context and the situation in participating member states, discussing its transferability potential; *working-group activities* aimed at allowing more in-depth discussions on specific aspects of the practice under review; *site visits* which should allow participants to gain a better understanding of the functioning of the practice under review by looking at how it is implemented "on the ground" and by talking to personnel charged with its implementation or to beneficiaries. However, seminars do not always follow this structure. In fact, the agenda of meetings as well as the roles effectively played by actors mainly depends on the topic under review and on the motivations behind host countries' decision to organize a peer review (see below).

4.3. Function, relevance and impact of peer review meetings: preliminary evidences

Against this backdrop, two preliminary considerations can be advanced. First of all, considering the framework of the Social OMC, peer review meetings are not 'peripheral tools' as a part of the literature claims (see for example, Armstrong, 2010). In principle, they should be well integrated with the other tools of the Social OMC: practices under review should be identified in the National Strategy Reports for Social Protection and Social Inclusion; the topics under review should be linked to the objectives of the Social OMC and should correspond to priorities identified by the Social Protection Committee; the good performance of Member States in relation to the common indicators is among the criteria for

⁹ In general, peer countries officials come from central administration (Ministries of Labour). Independent experts can either be academics or researchers, national stakeholders' representatives or civil servants.

identifying host countries. Moreover, the aims of these meetings are the promotion of mutual learning dynamics and the exchange of good practices, which are among the main goals of OMC processes.

Second, looking at participants, it is important to notice that virtually all actors involved in the Social OMC do have a role in the peer review process: SPC members, officials from the member states, experts, European and national stakeholder organizations, EC officials. Indeed, looking at actors involved, peer review meetings can be interpreted as "interorganisational networks"¹⁰ in which actors coming from different organizations at different levels of government meet for exchanging knowledge. Considering that some actors mainly act at the European level while others at the national one, these meetings may potentially be effective in linking the two levels within a relatively novel multilevel arena for social policy coordination characterized by patterns of bi-directional influence (Sabato, 2012).

Despite the potential relevance of the Peer Review Programme in the Social OMC no academic research has so far provided an in-depth analysis of the latter and its impact on national and EU policies¹¹. Only a few studies exist, among which the assessment carried out by the Public Policy and Management Institute and the European Social Observatory on behalf of the European Commission (OSE and PPMI 2012a; 2012b). The results of this assessment are rather interesting. First of all, the study unveiled various motivations behind the choice of hosting peer reviews - that is to say, a variety of usage of this exercise done by Member States. Beside promoting of mutual learning dynamics or simply showing off domestic practices ("windows dressing"), peer review meetings have been used as a way for answering EU pressures (e.g. in domains when criticisms from the Commission have been issued), for uploading an issue on the supranational political agenda (this has been done by both Member States and the European Commission, often in collaboration with stakeholders), or as an instrument for settling internal differences (i.e. disagreements between domestic levels of government) by discussing with European peers. Secondly, although it is not possible to generalize results, the OSE/PPMI assessment has revealed that discussions held during the seminars are very often rather open and frank. The interaction among the different actors involved seems to facilitate the development of genuine learning dynamics: participants learn both from each other experiences ("learning from others") and by developing together new knowledge and solutions ("learning with others").

The first studies therefore suggest that with respect to the "impact" of those meetings, it is possible to distinguish between consequences at the European and at the domestic levels. As far as the European level is concerned, some meetings have contributed to the creation and development of networks among participants. In other cases, knowledge acquired during the meetings has been used - especially by stakeholders - for feeding debates at the European level. Finally, sometimes peer reviews have contributed to the promotion of topics on the EU agenda or to keep attention on specific issues high¹².

With respect to impact of the meetings at the domestic level, the OSE/PPMI assessment has detected three types of effects:

- *Cognitive effects*, consisting in: i) increased knowledge of policies/practices implemented by other Member States as well as of EU initiatives and actions; ii) improved awareness of

¹⁰ On the concept of "inter-organisational network", see Hartley and Benington (2006).

¹¹ A few studies on the peer review meetings organised in the context of the European Employment Strategy exist: Ballester and Papadopoulos (2009), Casey and Gold (2005), Sabato (2012).

¹² Sometimes, the European Commission has been able to use those meetings as "stepping stones" in longer processes of building European consensus on topics such as minimum income, activation policies, stakeholder involvement.

strength and weaknesses of Member States' own policies (reflexive learning)¹³; iii) the identification of possible solutions or "models" for coping with domestic policy problems.

- *Discursive diffusion*: knowledge gained during the meetings has sometimes been used for feeding domestic debates (generally, in the organisations of the participants);

- *Networking*: domestic participants have often been involved in EU-wide networks created as a consequence of the peer reviews. In some cases, these networks have been "activated" at the national level.

- *Transfer*: in a few cases, elements of the practices under review (mainly, procedural elements) have been transferred in peer countries' national policies. Generally, this happens when domestic processes of change are already in place in the period of the peer review and people involved in those processes take part into the meeting.

Considering that peer review meetings last one and a half days, the findings of the PPMI/OSE assessment are to a certain extent surprising. However, it should be noted that not all meetings held can be considered as successful ones and many meetings have not produced any significant impact. Moreover, the research has also highlighted some limits of the process. The main shortcoming is represented by the significant difficulties in disseminating knowledge produced during the meetings (especially at the domestic levels)¹⁴ and the absence of systematic follow-up activities.

4.4. Combating poverty & promoting active inclusion via peer reviews

As mentioned above, 66 peer review meetings were organised in the period between 2004 and 2011 (see annex 3). Among them, 52 seminars (79%) concerned the strand "Fight against poverty and social exclusion" of the Social OMC, while 8 meetings (12%) concerned "Healthcare and long-term care" and only 6 seminars (9%) were devoted to "Pensions"¹⁵. Combating poverty and social exclusion has therefore been a major issue in the peer review programme. Indeed, looking at "key themes" dealt with by peer review meetings, the topics of seminars often concerned issues, priorities and target groups which are actually at the heart of anti-poverty strategies and discourses as gradually developed in Social OMC activities: Promoting active inclusion (17 meetings), Quality and accessibility of Social Services (18 meetings); Children and families (9); Homelessness and housing exclusion (8); Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants (11). The tendency to focus on those strand of the Social OMC has been confirmed and even increased in the last programme year (2012) when, in a context characterised by high uncertainty about the integration of the tools of the Social OMC within the EU 2020 Strategy (see Section 6.2), three out of the four peer review meetings concerned the fight against poverty and social exclusion.

With regard to practices reviewed in the meetings, it is not possible to provide here a full account of the variety of topics discussed in the various years (for a list of peer review meetings on social inclusion in the recent period, see Table 4 below). As already mentioned above, however, peer reviews may concern "good" practices already implemented in member

¹³ While in some cases the meetings entailed the identification of previously unknown weakness of domestic policies ("mirror effect"), in other cases, they entailed the emergence of unexpected strengths, thus producing a remarkable "legitimizing effect".

¹⁴ Documents produced in the peer review process are published on the website of the programme (<u>http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1024&langId=en</u>). However, information about the meetings seldom reaches "outsiders".

¹⁵ While peer reviews on "Poverty and social exclusion" have been held since 2004, meetings on "Healthcare and long-term care" and on "Pensions" have been organised only since 2006. However, considering peer reviews held in the period 2006-2011, the picture doesn't change so much. In fact, in that period, 37 meetings (74% of the total) concerned "Poverty and Social exclusion".

states, discussions around planned domestic policy reforms or broader EU wide policy problems. Looking at the meetings organised between 2004 and 2010 in the strand "Poverty and Social exclusion", the vast majority of them (42 cases out of 47) concerned the presentation of already existing domestic practices. Only in two meetings the aim was to deal with a general EU policy problem, while three meetings were devoted to discuss a planned policy reform¹⁶.

This said, it is important to point out that, despite the focus is often posed on country specific practices, the aim of peer reviews is not simply to show practices in order to (possibly) favour the transfer of some elements in other member states. Rather, in some cases peer reviews have been strategically used by different actors as a way for channelling their preferences at the European level; in these cases the analysis of domestic good practices has simply been a "pretext" for so doing. An example of this kind of "strategic use" of the peer review exercise is illustrated in Box 2 presenting the peer review meeting on "Minimum Income and Social Integration Institutional Arrangements" hosted in Belgium in 2005.

¹⁶ These data have been re-elaborated from PPMI (2012), Map 5 page 33.

Table 4 List of peer review meetings related to the fight against poverty and social exclusion , 2008-2012

Title	Year	Host country	Peer countries	Key theme
Initiatives by the social partners for improving the labour market access of disadvantaged groups	2008	Austria	Finland - Ireland - Norway - Slovenia - Spain — UK	-Promoting active inclusion
The social economy from the perspective of active inclusion	nclusion Slovakia - Slovenia – Sweden		-Promoting active inclusion - Interaction of social, economic and employment policies	
		Czech Republic - Denmark - Germany - Greece - Italy - Latvia - The Netherlands	Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants	
Social impact assessment	• • • •		Governance	
Getting women back into the labour market 2008 Germany Cyprus - D		Cyprus - Denmark - Italy - Luxembourg - Malta - Poland - The Netherlands	-Promoting active inclusion - Interaction of social, economic and employment policies	
Integrated programme for the social inclusion of Roma	2009	Greece	Finland - France - Germany - Hungary - Spain	Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants
e City Strategy for tackling unemployment and 2009 United Austria - Bulgaria – Czech Republic - Greece - ild poverty Kingdom Latvia - Lithuania - Norway - Portugal - Serbia		-Children and families -Promoting active inclusion -Interaction of social, economic and employment policies		
Developing well-targeted tools for the active inclusion of vulnerable people	2009	Norway	Austria - Cyprus - Ireland - Poland - Romania - Spain - UK	-Promoting active inclusion
Counting the homeless - improving the basis for 2009 Austria Denmark - Germany - Hungary - Italy -		Denmark - Germany - Hungary - Italy - Luxembourg- Norway - Slovenia - Sweden	Homelessness and housing exclusion	
Measuring the impact of active inclusion and other policies to combat poverty and social exclusion	2009	France	Belgium - Bulgaria - Ireland - Latvia - Lithuania - Luxembourg - Malta - Portugal - Romania - The Netherlands	- Governance
Federal Foundation Mother and Child for pregnant women in emergency situations	2009	Germany	Bulgaria - Denmark - Greece - Hungary - Italy - Serbia	Children and families
Modernising and activating measures relating to 2009 Spain France - Lithuania - Luxembourg - Malta - work incapacity Doland - Romania - Sweden - The Netherlands – UK		-Promoting active inclusion -Health and long-term care		
Promoting social inclusion of children in a disadvantaged rural environment - the microregion	2010	Hungary	Croatia - Czech Republic - Italy - Portugal - Serbia - UK	-Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants

of Szecseny'				-Children and families
Achieving excellence in social service provision	2010	Romania	Belgium - Croatia - Estonia - Lithuania	Quality and accessibility of social services
Using Reference Budgets for drawing up the requirements of a minimum income scheme and assessing adequacy	2010	Belgium	Austria - Cyprus - Finland - France - Ireland - Italy - Luxembourg - Sweden	-Promoting active inclusion - Over- Indebtedness and financial exclusion
The Programme for developing local plans for social inclusion in Catalonia	2010	Spain	Bulgaria - Czech Republic - Latvia - Norway - Romania - Serbia - The Netherlands	- Governance
Building a comprehensive and participative strategy on homelessness	2010	Portugal	Denmark - Hungary - Ireland - Poland - Serbia - Spain - Finland	Homelessness and housing exclusion
Making a success of integrating immigrants into the labour market	2010	Norway	Austria - Finland - Greece - Italy - Latvia - Malta	 -Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants -Promoting active inclusion -Interaction of social, economic and employment policies
The Finnish National Programme to reduce long- term homelessness	2010	Finland	Bulgaria - France - Hungary - Latvia - Norway - Portugal - Slovenia – The Netherlands - Sweden	-Homelessness and housing exclusion -Governance
Building the tools to fight in-work poverty	2011	France	Belgium - Cyprus - Estonia - Greece - Ireland - Lithuania - Portugal - Slovenia - The Netherlands	 Promoting active inclusion Interaction of social, economic and employment policies
Building a coordinated strategy for parenting support	2011	France	Belgium - Bulgaria - Croatia - Czech Republic - Denmark - Estonia - Germany - Italy – Malta	- Children and families
The setting of national poverty targets	2011	Ireland	Belgium - Bulgaria - Croatia - Finland - Latvia - Malta - Norway - Romania - Slovakia - United Kingdom	 Interaction of social, economic and employment policies Governance
Improving the efficiency of social protection	2011	Portugal	Belgium - Croatia - Italy - Latvia - Lithuania - Malta - Romania - Slovenia	- Governance
Developing effective ex ante social impact assessment with a focus on methodology, tools and data sources	2011	Belgium	Austria - Cyprus - Finland - France - Greece - Ireland - Luxembourg - Norway - Spain	- Governance
Combating child poverty through measures promoting the socio-cultural participation of clients of Public Centres for Social Welfare	2012	Belgium	Croatia - Finland - France - Germany - Italy - Lithuania - Luxembourg - Malta - Norway - Spain	-Children and families

Area-based policies in urban areas: how to promote	2012	Norway	Belgium - Denmark - Finland - Germany -	-Children and families
good living conditions for children and youth?			Greece - Romania	
Social economy- laying the groundwork for innovative solutions to today's challenges	2012	France	Bulgaria - Cyprus - Czech Republic - Germany - Greece - Hungary - Malta - Netherlands - Romania - Slovenia	-Promoting active inclusion

Source: Authors' elaboration

Box 2 Linking national and European Strategies: the Belgian peer review on "Minimum Income and Social Integration Institutional Arrangements" (2005)

As mentioned above, Member states' decisions of hosting a peer review meeting are generally driven by various motivations. Sometimes, beyond the desire of showing a domestic good practice or promoting mutual learning dynamics, MS use peer reviews as a way for "uploading" topics and issues to the EU agenda. In those cases, Member states often act in synergy with other actors such as the European Commission or stakeholders.

A good example of such a kind of "strategic use" of the peer review exercise is represented by the seminar on "Minimum Income and Social integration Institutional Arrangements" hosted by Belgium in 2005 (Sabato and Peña-Casas, 2012). In that occasion, the main purpose of Belgium was to show to the European partners the functioning of its "Right to Social Integration" law (DIS, Droit à l'intégration sociale). The law, passed in May 2002, provided the general framework for minimum income and social assistance measures in Belgium. Given its emphasis on concepts such as "social integration", "recipients' activation" and "contractualisation", many observers deem that DIS represented a "paradigmatic shift" of the Belgian social protection system towards the so called "Active Social State" (Gilson and Glorieux, 2005). However, in 2005 the topics of minimum income guarantee and activation were highly relevant on the European agenda too. On the one hand, the renewed Lisbon Strategy emphasised labour market participation and activation of social assistance recipients. On the other, the European Commission was about to launch a round of consultations on the possibility of a Communication on active inclusion, and Belgium was among the few countries in favour of such an initiatives. Indeed, the European Commission (as well as stakeholders' organisations such as EAPN) particularly welcomed Belgian decision to host the Peer Review, considering it as an opportunity for starting a EU level debate on those issues, by providing a concrete example of how an 'activation approach' can be declined¹⁷. For these reasons, it is possible to state that the Belgian meeting was the result of the link between two agendas and strategies: the Belgian - showing-off a domestic practice and trying to upload its basic principles at the EU level - and the EC - 'breaking the ice' for discussions on a contested topic and paving the way for new initiatives - ones. Indeed, those attempts can be considered as rather successful since the Belgian peer review can be seen as a stepping stone (for sure, only one among many other) towards the 2008 Recommendation on active inclusion (cf. section 3.2).

5. Europe 2020 and the fight against Poverty and Social Exclusion

This section is devoted to briefly illustrate the main features and the overall governance architecture of Europe 2020 (par. 5.1) and to present the novel against poverty designed at the supranational level - the headline target on poverty and related indicators, the Flagship initiative "European Platform Against Poverty and Social Exclusion" - (par. 5.2) in order to set the context for the analysis of the functioning of such a novel anti-poverty arena emerged around Europe 2020 which actually represents the core of sections 6 and 7 complemented by a review of recent poverty and social exclusion trends in Europe (par. 6.1).

5.1. The new overarching strategy: Europe 2020

In European Commission's view, Europe 2020 is a strategy aimed at turning the EU into a smart, sustainable and inclusive economy, characterized by high levels of employment, productivity and social cohesion.

¹⁷ Indeed, the approach finally adopted by the 2008 Recommendation on active inclusion (relying on adequate income support, inclusive labour markets, access to quality services) presents some similarities with the approach characterizing the Belgian DIS.

Europe 2020 has been organized around "three integrated pillars" and "three priorities". The integrated pillars are: 1) "Macro-economic surveillance" aimed to ensure a stable macro-economic environment supporting growth and employment. 2) "Thematic coordination" focused on structural reforms in fields such as innovation, employment, education and social inclusion, research and development (R&D), resource-efficiency, business environment. Thematic coordination combines "EU priorities", "EU headline targets", "EU flagship initiatives". 3) "Fiscal surveillance under Stability and Growth Pact", which should contribute to achieve sustainable public finance and to promote fiscal consolidation. The "three priorities" are: 1) "smart growth" 2) "sustainable growth" and 3) "inclusive

The "three priorities" are: 1) "smart growth", 2) "sustainable growth" and 3) "inclusive growth". In order to pursue these priorities the European Council set "five EU headline targets" in June 2010. MS have to define the national targets in accordance with the latter in their annual National Reform Programmes (NRPs) and they also have to indicate the main obstacles to reaching the targets and how they intend to tackle them. The Council (October 2010) also adopted ten "Integrated Guidelines" (IGs) for implementing the Europe 2020 strategy. Six guidelines regard economic policies, four concern employment and (in fact also) social policies. Finally Europe 2020 introduced seven *flagship initiatives* which are intended to favour actions in line with the top priorities and aimed to reach the headline targets by supporting a broad range of actions at international, supranational and national level.

In order to ensure socio-economic governance, the Council has also introduced the "European Semester". This aims to improve economic policy coordination and help strengthen budgetary discipline, macroeconomic stability and growth. The Semester starts each year in March, when the Council, on the basis of European Commission's Annual Growth Survey (AGS), identifies the main economic challenges and gives advice about policies. Following this advice, by mid-April member states review their medium-term budgetary strategies and draft their (NRPs) setting out the actions they will undertake to reach the national headline targets. Afterwards, in June and in July the Commission and the Council provide opinions and especially recommendations to MS before they set their budget for the following year (Frazer, et al. 2010; Vanhercke 2011). As it has been noted (Armstrong 2012), the European Semester brings together the processes - both of reporting and monitoring - previously connected with the reformed Stability and Growth Pact (SGP), the system of country-reporting linked to the Lisbon Strategy and especially the coordination of employment and economic policies.

5.2. The new tool-kit for tackling poverty and social exclusion

Considering the Europe 2020 components that explicitly refer to poverty, first it must be noticed that this issue is linked to the top priority of ensuring "inclusive growth". This concept deals with the attempt to build a cohesive society in which people can anticipate and manage change, and (consequently) actively participate in society and economy. In accordance with this priority, one of the ten IGs concerns social inclusion and poverty. This is actually included in Employment Guidelines and is supported by a related "headline target" on poverty representing the main innovation of the Europe 2020 strategy. The guideline "promoting social inclusion and combatting poverty" was framed to replicate the main point of the "common objectives" of the previous Social OMC. On the one hand, it stresses the need to promote active inclusion, and above all partecipation in labour market as strategy to fight poverty. On the other hand, it points at the need to reform and to ensure the adequacy of national social protection systems, while respecting the budgetary constraints and ensuring long-term sustainability (Peña-Casas 2012).

Goals, targets and indicators

The headline target on poverty stresses the need to promote social inclusion trough the reduction of poverty, aiming to lift 20 million people out of poverty and social exclusion by 2020. The headline target refers to people "at risk of poverty or social exclusion" and these conditions are described by a combination of three different dimensions of poverty. According to selected indictors, the objective is to reduce the number of people in the EU (120 million) who are: a) at risk of poverty; ii) and/or materially deprived; iii) and/or living in households with very low work intensity by one sixth. The first indicator is the classic poverty measure based on disposable income. The second concerns "deprivation", the third is linked to joblessness.

These dimensions have the same weight, but they represent different challenges for the various MS. The MS and the Mediterranean countries have "income poverty" as the primary challenge; "material deprivation" mainly affects the Eastern European countries, in particular Romania, Latvia, Bulgaria and Hungary. Both the first and second group of countries have fewer problems with jobless households than in countries such as the UK and Ireland (Copeland and Daly 2012).

Governance and actors

In order to reach the quantitative poverty target outlined above, Europe 2020 has substantially changed the policy tool-kit in the field of poverty and social exclusion – as well as in other sectors such as pensions and health care. As mentioned, the new strategy introduced so-called "flagship initiatives" to support initiatives in the priority fields, to stimulate stakeholder actions and to perform actions aimed to pursue the headline targets. A specific flagship - the *European Platform Against Poverty and social exclusion (EPAP)* - regards poverty and social exclusion. The platform aims to create a joint task involving member states, EU institutions and stakeholders.

Five specific priorities are set out: 1) promoting action across the policy spectrum, 2) supporting greater and more effective use of EU fund to support social inclusion, 3) foster evidence-based social innovation, 4) working in partnership and harnessing the potential of the social economy and 5) enhancing policy coordination among MS. A sixth priority area regards the application of common active inclusion principles is also added to the platform it (Peña-Casas 2012). The governance architecture for tackling poverty and social inclusion in the framework of Europe 2020 is summarized in table 5.

As it has been pointed out by Armstrong (2012), the EPAP with associated goals and activities focuses on specific policy domains and arrange policy initiatives to achieve the targets in the absence of both a broader "EU social agenda" and a fully-fledged anti-poverty strategy. This entails the risk that the flagship initiative aimed to support Europe 2020's anti-poverty dimension might be unsuccessful to develop a practicable and ambitious social agenda while economic policy coordination mechanisms – that are the core of Europe 2020 – could fail to support or even negatively affect the social dimension. In section 6.2 below we will address this issue by looking at the implementation of the EU2020 anti-poverty dimension and the functioning of the EPAP.

EU 2020 strategy	Overarching priority	Inclusive growth
	(10) Integrated Guideline	N.10 Promoting social inclusion and combating poverty
	(5) Headline target	At least 20 million fewer people in or at risk of poverty and social exclusion
EU level tools	(7) Flagship	"European Platform Against Poverty"
	European semester	Annual Growth Survey; Country-Specific Recommendations
National	National Reform	Include national targets on poverty
level tools	Programmes (NRPs)	

Table 5 Europe 2020 and the new governance architecture for combating poverty and social exclusion

6. A new arena for combating poverty

This section provides a preliminary assessment of the Europe 2020 strategy against poverty and social exclusion by first focusing on outcomes in terms of reduction of overall poverty level and in the various MS (par. 6.1). Second, we focus on the "process", that is on the functioning of the Europe 2020 anti-poverty component with the aim to detect signs of the emergence and (possible) consolidation of a new policy arena based on effective multi-level and multi-stakeholder governance of actions against poverty (par. 6.2).

6.1. Poverty and social exclusion in the EU: main trends 2005-2011

As mentioned in previous sections, one of the Europe 2020 headline targets is to lift at least 20 million of people out of the risk of poverty or exclusion by 2020. In order to monitor EU and MS' progress towards this target, a new indicator has been developed concerning people "at risk of poverty or social exclusion" (AROPE). This indicator is composed by three subindicators: a) "people at risk of poverty" (AROP), b) "people severely materially deprived" (SMD) and, c) "people living in households with very low work intensity" (LWI)¹⁸.

Looking at the trend of the AROPE indicator in the period between 2005 (re-launch of the Lisbon Strategy) and 2011 (the first year of the Europe 2020 Strategy and latest Eurostat data available), two tendencies emerge. In a first phase (2005-2009) the percentage of people at risk of poverty or social exclusion in the EU showed a decreasing trend: from 25,6% in 2005 (corresponding to 123.892.000 persons) to 23,1% (113.773.000 persons) in 2009. Since 2010, however, AROPE has started to increase and in 2011 24,2% of the EU population (119.568.000 persons) was at risk of poverty or social exclusion, a value close to 2007 levels (Fig.1 and Fig.2).

¹⁸ As reported by Eurostat, when it comes to the AROPE indicator, <<Persons are only counted once even if they are present in several sub-indicators. At risk-of-poverty are persons with an equivalised disposable income below the risk-of-poverty threshold, which is set at 60 % of the national median equivalised disposable income (after social transfers). Material deprivation covers indicators relating to economic strain and durables. Severely materially deprived persons have living conditions severely constrained by a lack of resources and they experience at least 4 out of 9 following deprivations items: cannot afford i) to pay rent or utility bills, ii) keep home adequately warm, iii) face unexpected expenses, iv) eat meat, fish or a protein equivalent every second day, v) a week holiday away from home, vi) a car, vii) a washing machine, viii) a colour TV, or ix) a telephone. People living in households with very low work intensity are those aged 0-59 living in households where the adults (aged 18-59) work less than 20% of their total work potential during the past year (cf. http://epp.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/portal/page/portal/europe_2020_indicators/headline_indicators).



Figure 1 Percentage of people at risk of poverty or social exclusion (AROPE) 2005-2011, EU 27

Source: Eurostat online database



Figure 2 People at risk of poverty or social exclusion (% of total population), selected years

Source: elaborated from Eurostat online database. BG: data for 2005 refers to 2006; RO: data for 2005 refers to 2007; IE: data for 2011 refers to 2010; EU: data for 2005 and 2011 are estimated values.

However, looking at individual EU countries, it is possible to note that in 13 cases such a negative trend already started in 2009. This is the case for Bulgaria, Denmark, Estonia, Ireland, Spain, Cyprus, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Hungary, Malta, the Netherlands, and Sweden (Table 6).

Country \time	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011
EU 27	:	25,6e	25,2e	24,4	23,6	23,1	23,6	24,2e
BE	21,6	22,6	21,5	21,6	20,8	20,2	20,8	21
BG	:	:	61,3	60,7	44,8b	46,2	49,2	49,1
CZ	:	19,6	18	15,8	15,3	14	14,4	15,3
DK	16,5	17,2	16,7	16,8	16,3	17,6	18,3	18,9
DE	:	18,4	20,2	20,6	20,1	20	19,7	19,9
EE	26,3	25,9	22	22	21,8	23,4	21,7	23,1
IE	24,8	25	23,3	23,1	23,7	25,7	29,9	:
EL	30,9	29,4	29,3	28,3	28,1	27,6	27,7	31
ES	24,4	23,4	23,3	23,1	22,9	23,4	25,5	27
FR	19,8	18,9	18,8	19	18,6b	18,5	19,2	19,3
IT	26,4	25	25,9	26	25,3	24,7	24,5	28,2
СҮ	:	25,3	25,4	25,2	23,3b	23,5	23,5	23,7
LV	:	45,8	41,4	36	33,8b	37,4	38,1	40,4b
LT	:	41	35,9	28,7	27,6	29,5	33,4	33,4
LU	16,1	17,3	16,5	15,9	15,5	17,8	17,1	16,8
HU	:	32,1	31,4	29,4	28,2	29,6	29,9	31
MT	:	20,2	19,1	19,4	19,6	20,2	20,3	21,4
NL	:	16,7	16	15,7	14,9	15,1	15,1	15,7
AT	17,5	16,8	17,8	16,7	18,6	17	16,6	16,9
PL	:	45,3	39,5	34,4	30,5b	27,8	27,8	27,2
РТ	27,5	26,1	25	25	26	24,9	25,3	24,4
RO	:	:	:	45,9	44,2	43,1	41,4	40,3
SI	:	18,5	17,1	17,1	18,5	17,1	18,3	19,3
SK	:	32	26,7	21,3	20,6	19,6	20,6	20,6
FI	17,2	17,2	17,1	17,4	17,4	16,9	16,9	17,9
SE	16,9	14,4	16,3	13,9	14,9	15,9	15	16,1
UK	:	24,8	23,7	22,6	23,2	22	23,1	22,7

Table 6 People at risk of poverty or social exclusion (% of total population), 2004-2011

Source: Eurostat. Last update: 03/04/2013 : = not available; e = estimated; b = break in time series

A similar trend emerges at the EU level for two out of the three AROPE sub-indicators (Figure 3). The percentage of people severely materially deprived constantly and significantly declined between 2005 and 2009 (from 10,7% to 8,1% of the EU population), but it is on the rise since 2010. The percentage of people living in households with very low work intensity decreased between 2005 and 2009 - from 10,3% to 9% of the EU population. However, LWI started to increase in 2010, almost reaching the 2005 level in 2011. As far as the AROP indicator is concerned, this sub-indicator shows a more linear trend characterised by moderate changes in the period between 2005 and 2011. However, due to a 0,5% increase between 2010 and 2011, the percentage of people at risk of poverty in 2011 was higher than the rate registered in 2005.



Figure 3 People "at risk of poverty or social exclusion" (AROPE) and the three sub-indicators in the EU 27, 2005-2011

Source: elaborated from Eurostat online database. Last update 03/04/2013

Regarding individual member states, the situation concerning the AROPE indicator - as well as its components - is varied (cf. Tables 7, 8, 9 and 10 below). In 2011 data, the percentage of people at risk of poverty or social exclusion ranged between almost 50% of the population in Bulgaria and around 15-16% in countries like Czech Republic, the Netherlands and Sweden. In the same year, more than 21% of the Bulgarian, Romanian, Spanish or Greek population was at risk of poverty, while this situation only concerned 9,8% of the Czech population. As far as the percentage of people severely materially deprived is concerned, in 2011 it ranged between 43,6% of the population in Bulgaria to 1,2% in Luxembourg and Sweden. Finally, 2011 data shows that 13,7% of Belgian people lived in households with very low work intensity, while the percentage was significantly lower in countries like Cyprus (4,5%), the Czech Republic (6,6%) and Luxembourg (5,8%)¹⁹.

When it comes to the analysis of the trends registered in member states in the last few years, a worsening of the situation is visible in many countries. However, the extent and the duration of such deterioration vary according to the country and to the considered indicator. Taking data for 2011 as a reference point (and comparing them with the situation in 2010, 2008 and 2005)²⁰, four different situations may be identified: a) Countries experiencing a

¹⁹ As far as LWI indicator is concerned, data referred to 2010 shows that the higher value was registered in Ireland (22,9% of the population). However, 2011 data for Ireland are not available.

²⁰ In the following tables the values of percentage change for the periods 2010-2011 and 2008-2011 are taken from the 2012 Annual report of the Social Protection Committee (SPC 2013). In the report, it is specified that << [...] ii) Only statistically significant changes have been marked in green/red (positive/negative changes). For the change 2010-2011, provisional computations of significance of net change done by Eurostat have been used . For the change 2008-2011, a 1pp. threshold has been used. "~" refers to stable performance (i.e. statistically insignificant change). iii) For the at-risk-of poverty rate, the income reference year is the calendar year prior to the survey year (i.e. 2010) except for the United Kingdom (survey year) and Ireland (12 months preceding the survey). Similarly, the very low work intensity rate refers to the previous calendar year (i.e. 2010) while for the severe material deprivation rate, the reference is the current year (i.e. 2011). >> (SPC, 2013: 24). As far as pp. changes for the period 2005-2011 are concerned, they are our

lasting worsening, i.e. countries where the value of the considered indicator registered in 2011 is higher than the values registered both in 2010 and 2008; b) Countries experiencing a recent worsening. i.e. countries showing some worsenings in 2011 compared to 2010 but for which the 2011 value of the indicator is still lower than - or equivalent to - the 2008 one; c) Countries presenting a rather stable situation, i.e. countries where the 2011 value presents no or very limited changes compared to 2010; d) Countries experiencing some improvements, i.e. countries in which the value of the indicator registered in 2011 is lower than the one registered in 2010.

As far as the "at risk of poverty or social exclusion" (AROPE) indicator is concerned, we find the follow situation (Table 7):

- a) Countries experiencing a significant worsening: Estonia, Ireland, Greece, Spain, Italy, Latvia, Hungary, Malta, the Netherlands and Sweden. As rightly highlightened by the 2012 SPC Annual report with reference to changes between 2010 and 2011, <<[..]for most countries the increase is rather small (1-2 percentage points) with the exception of Italy and Greece where the increase since 2010 is of the range of 3.7 pp. and 3.3 pp. respectively>> (SPC 2013:23) . However, if one compares 2011 data with the 2008 situation, a relevant worsening is registered in 6 countries: Ireland (6,2 pp), Greece (2,9 pp), Spain (4,1 pp), Italy (2,9 pp), Latvia (6,3pp), Hungary (2,8pp). Moreover, in seven countries the percentage of AROPE registered in 2011 is higher (although to a very different extent) than the one registered in 2005 (Ireland, Greece, Spain, Italy, Malta, Sweden).
- b) Countries experiencing a recent worsening: Czech Republic (0,9 pp), Slovenia (1 pp), Finland (1 pp). In these countries, despite a recent increase of the AROPE rate, the situation in 2011 is still better than in 2008.
- c) Countries presenting a rather stable situation: Belgium, Bulgaria, Cyprus, Denmark, Germany, France, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Austria, Slovakia, the United Kingdom. It should be noted, however, that even if the indicator was relatively stable in the period 2010-2011, in most countries the 2011 AROPE rate was higher than that registered in 2008 (Bulgaria, Denmark, Cyprus, Lithuania, Luxembourg) or in 2005 (Denmark and Germany).
- d) Countries experiencing some improvements. Only a few countries registered (rather small) improvements in the 2011 AROPE value compared to 2010. These countries are Poland (-0,6 pp), Portugal (-0,9 pp), and Romania (-1,1 pp).

Looking at the "*at risk of poverty*" rate (AROP), it emerges from Table 8:

a) *Countries experiencing a lasting worsening:* Greece, Spain, Hungary, Slovenia, Sweden, Slovakia. The increase of the AROP rate in 2011 compared to both 2010 or 2008 is rather limited in all those countries (between 0,9 and 2,2 pp). However, it is to be noted that, as far as Sweden is concerned, in 2011 its AROP rate has increased by 4,5 pp compared to 2005 values.

elaborations based on Eurostat data. In this case, a 1 pp. threshold has been used for assessing the significance of the change. As far as Ireland is concerned, last available data for this country refer to 2010. For this reason, we report changes in percentage points (pp) for the periods 2009-2010, 2008-2010, 2005-2010.

- b) *Countries experiencing a recent worsening* : Belgium, Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Estonia, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Romania. It's important to note that, as far as Bulgaria is concerned, the 2011 value is significantly higher than the 2005 one (+ 8,3 pp).
- c) *Countries presenting a rather stable situation*: Denmark, Germany, France, Cyprus, Lithuania, Malta, Austria, Poland, Portugal, Finland. In all those countries, the AROP percentage registered in 2011 doesn't show significative changes compared to 2010. However, in some countries (Denmark, France, Germany, Malta and Finland) some worsening compared to the 2008 or 2005 situation have been registered. Notably, data show that the AROP value registered in Germany in 2011 was 3,5 pp higher than in 2005.
- d) *Countries experiencing some improvements:* Compared to 2010, the percentage of people at risk of poverty in 2011 decreased in only three countries: Latvia (-2,0 pp), Luxembourg (-0,9 pp), the United Kingdom (-0,9 pp).

	EU 27	BE	BG	CZ	DK	DE	EE	IE	EL	ES	FR	IT	CY	LV
2011	24,2	21	49,1	15,3	18,9	19,9	23,1	29,9	31	27	19,3	28,2	23,5	40,1
2010-2011 change in pp	~	~	~	0,9	~	2	1,4	4,2	3,3	1,5	~	3,7	~	2
2008-2011 change in pp	~	~	4,3	~	2,6	2	1,3	6,2	2,9	4,1	~	2,9	1,1	6,3
2005-2011 change in pp	-1,4	-1,6	n.a.	-4,3	1,7	1,5	-2,8	4,9	1,6	3,6	2	3,2	-1,6	-5,4
	LT	LU	HU	МТ	NL	AT	PL	РТ	RO	SI	SK	F1	SE	UK
	LI	LU	ΠU		INL	AI	PL	PI	ĸŬ	21	76	FI	JE	UK
2011	33,4	16,8	31	21,4	15,7	16,9	27,2	24,4	40,3	19,3	20,6	17,9	16,1	22,7
2010-2011 change in pp	~	~	1,1	1,1	0,6	2	-0,6	-0,9	-1,1	1	~	1	1,1	~
2008-2011 change in pp	5,8	1,3	2,8	1,8	0,8	-1,7	-3,3	-1,6	-3,9	~	2	~	1,2	~
2005-2011 change in pp	-7,6	~	-1,1	1,2	-1	~	-18,1	-1,7	n.a.	~	-11,4	~	1,7	-2,1

Table 7 People at risk of poverty or social exclusion, in %, and changes in pp 2010-2011, 2008-2011 and 2005-2011

Source: changes in pp for 2010-2011 and 2008-2011 are based on SPC (2013:.24). Changes for 2005-2011 are based on elaboration on Eurostat data. Latest data available for Ireland refer to 2010 and changes are for the periods 2009-2010 and 2008-2010.

Table 8 At risk of poverty rate in %, and changes in pp 2010-2011, 2008-2011 and 2005-2011

	EU 27	BE	BG	CZ	DK	DE	EE	IE	EL	ES	FR	IT	CY	LV
2011	16,9	15,3	22,3	9,8	13,0	15,8	17,5	16,1	21,4	21,8	14,0	19,6	14,5	19,3
2010-2011 change in pp	2	0,7	1,6	0,8	2	2	1,7	1,1	1,3	1,1	2	1,4	~	-2,0
2008-2011 change in pp	2	2	2	2	1,2	2	-2,0	2	1,3	2,2	1,3	۲	-1,2	-6,3
2005-2011 change in pp	2	2	8,3	2	1,2	3,6	2	-3,6*	1,8	2,1	1,0	۲	-1,6	~
	LT	LU	HU	MT	NL	AT	PL	РТ	RO	SI	SK	FI	SE	UK
2011	20,0	13,6	13,8	15,4	11,0	12,6	17,7	18,0	22,2	13,6	13,0	13,7	14,0	16,2
2010-2011 change in pp	~	-0,9	1,5	2	0,7	~	۰	۰	1,1	0,9	1	~	1,1	-0,9
2008-2011 change in pp	~	2	1,4	2	~	~	2	2	-1,2	1,3	2,1	~	1,8	-2,5
2005-2011 change in pp	~	~	2	1,5	~	~	-2,8	-1,4	n.a.	1,4	2	2	4,5	-2,8

Source: changes in pp. for 2010-2011 and 2008-2011 are based on SPC (2013: 25-26). Changes for 2005-2011 are based on elaboration on Eurostat data. Latest data available for Ireland refer to 2010.

Regarding the variation in the rate of *"severely materially deprived"*(*SMD*) people, Table 9 displays the following situation:

- a) *Countries experiencing a lasting worsening*: Ireland, Greece, Italy, Cyprus, Latvia, Hungary, Malta and the Netherlands. The increase registered by the SMD indicator in 2011 compared to the 2010 value is particularly high in Greece (3,6 pp), Italy (4,3 pp), and Latvia (3,5 pp). Moreover, it should be noted that in three of the above mentioned stated (Greece, Ireland and Italy) the 2011 rate of severely deprived people was even higher than the 2005 one.
- b) *Countries experiencing a recent worsening*: Germany (0,8 pp), Luxembourg (0,7 pp) and Finland (0,4 pp).
- c) *Countries presenting a rather stable situation*. A stable situation (2010/2011) is registered in Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, France, Austria, Slovenia, Sweden, the United Kingdom.
- d) *Countries experiencing some improvements*. In some countries (Belgium, Bulgaria, Spain, Lithuania, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovakia) the 2011 rate of severely materially people has decreased if compared with the 2010 one. Generally, the latter have been small changes, between -2,1 pp (Bulgaria) and 0,1 pp (Spain). However, in some countries (Portugal and, especially, Poland and Slovakia) it is possible to identify a positive trend since 2005.

Concerning the variation in the rate of people living in households with a very "*low work intensity*"(*LWI*), we can distinguish among (Table 10):

- a) *Countries experiencing a lasting worsening.* In a number of countries, the percentage of LWI has increased to a different extent in 2011 in comparison to both 2010 and 2008. They are: Belgium, Bulgaria, Denmark, Estonia, Ireland, Greece, Spain, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Finland and Sweden. In some of these countries, the increase registered in 2011 in comparison to 2008 is particularly relevant: Estonia (4,6 pp), Ireland (9,3 pp), Greece, (4,4 pp), Spain (6 pp), Lithuania (7,2 pp). Moreover, in three country, the 2011 LWI rate is remarkably higher than the 2005 one: Ireland (8,3 pp), Greece (4,3 pp), Spain (5,7 pp).
- b) *Countries experiencing a recent worsening*. In two countries, the LWI registered an increase in 2011 compared to 2010. They are the Netherlands (0,5 pp) and Slovenia (0,7 pp).
- c) *Countries presenting a rather stable situation*. In ten countries (Czech Republic, Germany, France, Italy, Cyprus, Latvia, Hungary, Malta, Austria, Slovakia) the LWI rate did nott present any significant change in 2011 compared to 2010. However, if compared with 2008, in Latvia the 2011 rate of LWI showed a substantial increase (7,1 pp).
- d) *Countries experiencing some improvements*. Only four countries registered in 2011 some (limited) improvements compared to the 2010 situation: Poland (-0,4 pp), Portugal (-0,4 pp), Romania (-0,1 pp), the United Kingdom (-1,6 pp).
| | EU 27 | BE | BG | CZ | DK | DE | EE | IE | EL | ES | FR | IT | СҮ | LV |
|------------------------|-------|------|------|------|-----|------|-------|------|------|------|-------|------|------|------|
| 2011 | 8,8 | 5,7 | 43,6 | 6,1 | 2,6 | 5,3 | 8,7 | 7,5 | 15,2 | 3,9 | 5,2 | 11,2 | 10,7 | 30,9 |
| 2010-2011 change in pp | ~ | -0,2 | -2,1 | ۲ | ۲ | 0,8 | 2 | 1,4 | 3,6 | -0,1 | ~ | 4,3 | 1,1 | 3,5 |
| 2008-2011 change in pp | ~ | ~ | 2,4 | ٢ | ۲ | 2 | 3,8 | 2,0 | 4,0 | 1,4 | ~ | 3,7 | 1,9 | 11,9 |
| 2005-2011 change in pp | -1,9 | ~ | n.a. | -5,7 | ۲ | 2 | -3,7 | 2,4 | 2,4 | 2 | ~ | 4,7 | -1,4 | -7,5 |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | LT | LU | HU | MT | NL | AT | PL | PT | RO | SI | SK | FI | SE | UK |
| 2011 | 18,5 | 1,2 | 23,1 | 6,3 | 2,5 | 3,9 | 13,0 | 8,3 | 29,4 | 6,1 | 10,6 | 3,2 | 1,2 | 5,1 |
| 2010-2011 change in pp | -1,0 | 0,7 | 1,5 | 0,6 | 0,3 | 2 | -1,2 | -0,7 | -1,6 | 2 | -0,8 | 0,4 | ~ | ~ |
| 2008-2011 change in pp | 6,2 | ~ | 5,2 | 2,3 | 1,0 | -2,5 | -4,7 | -1,4 | -3,5 | ~ | -1,2 | ~ | ~ | ~ |
| 2005-2011 change in pp | -14,1 | ~ | ~ | ~ | ۲ | 2 | -20,8 | -1,0 | n.a. | 1,0 | -11,5 | ~ | -1,1 | ~ |

Table 9 Severe material deprivation rate, in % and changes in pp 2010-2011, 2008-2011 and 2005-2011

Source: changes in pp. for 2010-2011 and 2008-2011 are based on SPC (2013:.27). Changes for 2005-2011 are based on elaboration on Eurostat data. Latest data available for Ireland refer to 2010 and changes are for the periods 2009-2010 and 2008-2010.

Table 10 Population living in quasi-jobless households, in %, and changes in pp 2010-2011, 2008-2011 and 2005-2011

	EU 27	BE	BG	CZ	DK	DE	EE	IE	EL	ES	FR	IT	CY	LV
2011	10,0	13,7	11,0	6,6	11,4	11,1	9,9	22,9	11,8	12,2	9,3	10,4	4,5	12,2
2010-2011 change in pp	~	1,1	3,1	~	1,1	۲	1,0	3,1	4,3	2,4	2	~	~	~
2008-2011 change in pp	1,0	2,0	2,9	2	3,1	۲	4,6	9,3	4,4	6,0	2	~	~	7,1
2005-2011 change in pp	~	-1,4	n.a.	-2,2	1,5	~	~	8,3	4,3	5,7	~	~	~	4,5
	LT	LU	HU	MT	NL	AT	PL	РТ	RO	SI	SK	FI	SE	UK
2011	12,3	5,8	12,1	8,3	8,7	8,0	6,9	8,2	6,7	7,6	7,6	9,8	6,8	11,5
2010-2011 change in pp	3,1	0,3	2	~	0,5	~	-0,4	-0,4	-0,1	0,7	~	0,7	0,9	-1,6
2008-2011 change in pp	7,2	1,1	2	~	2	~	-1,0	1,9	-1,5	2	2,4	2,5	1,4	1,1
2005-2011 change in pp	2,8	2	2,6	-1,3	-1,0	1,5	-7,3	2,3	n.a.	-1,0	1,0	~	~	-1,3

Source: changes in pp for 2010-2011 and 2008-2011 are based on SPC (2013:.28). Changes for 2005-2011 are based on elaboration on Eurostat data. Latest data available for Ireland refer to 2010 and changes are for the periods 2009-2010 and 2008-2010.

SITUATION	AROPE	AROP	SMD	LWI
a) Countries	EE,IE,EL, ES,	EL, ES, HU, SI, SE,	IE, EL, IT, CY,LV,HU,	BE, BG, DK, EE, IE,
experiencing a	IT,LV,HU,MT,NL,SE	SK	MT, NL	EL, ES, LT, LU, FI,
lasting worsening				SE.
b) Countries	CZ, SI, FI	BE, BG, CZ, EE, IE,	DE,LU,FI	NL, SI
experiencing a		IT, NL, RO		
recent worsening				
a) + b)	13	14	11	13
c) Countries	BE,BG, CY, DK, DE,	DK, DE, FR CY, LT,	CZ, DK, EE, FR,	CZ, DE, FR, IT,CY,
presenting a rather	FR, LT,LU,AT, SK, UK	MT, AT, PL,PT,FI	AT,SI,SE,UK	LV, HU, MT, AT,SK
stable situation				
d) Countries	PL,PT,RO	LV, LU, UK	BE, BG, ES, LT,	PL, PT, RO, UK
experiencing some			PL,PT,RO,SK	
improvements				
c) + d)	14	13	16	14

Table 11 Summary of member states' situations concerning AROPE, AROP, SMD, LWI indicators

Summarising data reported above, it emerges that indicators referred to poverty and social exclusion showed some improvements in the second phase of the Lisbon Strategy. In fact, even if to a different extent, the AROPE, AROP, SMD and LWI indicators registered a decrease in the period between 2005 and 2009. However, starting from 2010, those indicators registered a worsening and, in 2011, the percentage of people at risk of poverty or social exclusion (AROPE) in the EU as a whole was close to 2007 values. Looking at individual member states, a fragmented picture emerges from Table 11. While only a few countries registered some improvements in 2011, a number of countries have been experiencing deterioration: in many cases, this is the consequence of a trend started in 2009. As a result, in a number of member states the values of indicators concerning poverty and social exclusion registered in 2011 were higher than values registered in 2008 or, even, in 2005. Evidently, it is not possible to link the above mentioned trends to EU strategies: the varieties of situations registered in member states highlights the importance of national factors and the fact that in many countries the situation has been deteriorating since 2009 singles out the relevance of an exogenous factor such as the financial and economic crisis. As underlined by the network of national experts on poverty and social exclusion (Frazer and Marlier 2012; European Commission 2012b), national responses to the economic crisis do not seem appropriate for mitigating the social effects of the crisis. By contrast, austerity measures aimed at fiscal consolidation seem likely to lead to a deepening of poverty and social exclusion and, as said, in many European countries the 2011 situation was actually worse than the previous year. In sum, looking at the objective of rising up at least 20 million of people out of the risk of poverty or social exclusion by 2020, it can be said that the Europe 2020 strategy has started

under very bad auspices.

Though poverty and social exclusion trends are relevant especially in light of the quantitative poverty target set by Europe 2020, comparative literature on the OMC has repeatedly argued that the impact of soft processes of coordination on policy outcomes at national level tends to be limited and it is also extremely difficult to trace the causal link between the former and the latter. Therefore, the analytical focus should be better posed on the actual functioning of Europe 2020 in the field of poverty and social exclusion in order to evaluate the effectiveness of this novel anti-poverty arena.

This is what we intend to do in the following section dedicated to the implementation of Europe 2020 in the period 2011-2013, that is in the first 2 ½ years since the launch of the new strategy. In line with the analytical framework of COPE we aim to capture to what extent the new anti-poverty arena represented by Europe 2020 is actually characterized by effective *multilevel* and *multi-stakeholder interaction* as well as *integration of different policy* fields with the aim to tackle poverty. In this framework we will also present some very preliminary findings regarding the impact of the new European strategy at the domestic level. In other words, three main analytical dimensions are relevant for our investigation: i) *multilevel governance*, that is the existence of interactions among different levels of government and the type of such interaction within the framework of Europe 2020 and the European Semester; ii) *multi-stakeholder participation*, which can be detected both at the supranational and the national (and, in case, local) level; iii) *integration*, that is policy coordination at the various level of government in order to reach the EU2020 poverty target.

What follows relies on preliminary research based on document analysis and the conduction of five interviews at the supranational level with institutional, social and political actors such as European Commission officers, stakeholder representatives, a member of the European Parliament, a member of the Network of independent experts on social inclusion (see below the list of interviews).

6.2. A weak anti-poverty arena: multi-level and multi-stakeholder interaction in the framework of Europe 2020

The emergence of an effective multilevel and multi-stakeholder arena to fight poverty and social exclusion depends on three main elements: 1) the interaction between the different levels of government and the behaviour of the MS; 2) the steering ability of EU bodies - primarily the European Commission and the EPAP; 3) the degree of stakeholders involvement at the various level of governments.

Multilevel interaction and behaviours of member states

In the framework of the European Semester, the starting point of the interaction between the European and national level is that every year MS include their priorities and their headline targets in the NRPs in accordance with suggestions of the AGS.

In order to provide a preliminary assessment of MS' strategies as presented in their NRPs we considered three different sources: the report of the Social Protection Committee on the social dimension of Europe 2020 strategy (SPC 2011); the 2011 report of the EU network of independent experts (Frazer and Marlier 2012); the short summary provided by the Commission based on the network of independent experts for 2012 (European Commission 2012b).

Three mains points emerged from these reports: 1) MS have focused on activation policies; 2) despite such focus on activation, the social dimension has remained marginal mostly as a consequence of fiscal consolidation; 3) the marginalization of the social dimension has occurred notwithstanding the economic and financial crises have made the risk of poverty even more salient as outlined in section 6.1 above.

The SPC report provides an overview of priorities set by MS in their draft 2011 NRPs to achieve the poverty target. The vast majority of MS (actually more than 2/3) pointed at raising employment rates and developing inclusive labour market as the main strategy to reduce poverty and social exclusion. More broadly, the SPC report shows that MS share a common focus on active inclusion strategies. The report of independent experts (Frazer and Marlier 2012) confirms that many MS developed an active inclusion strategy in line with the

2008 EU Recommendation. With regard to the three pillars of the latter (cf. section 3.2), they put particularly emphasis on the second one - i.e. inclusive labour market; by contrast, the policy framework for income support (first pillar) and services (third pillar) is much weaker. Despite this emphasis, the report of independent experts stresses that the social dimension is still marginal. First, NRPs lack long-term vision, e.g. ability to assess potential negative effects of the reduced support for children and families. Second NRPs do not effectively balance economic, social and employment objectives: fiscal consolidation is in fact the priority of NRPs, while social inclusion measures are left in the background.

The third report (European Commission 2012b) shows that the economic and financial crisis and austerity measures go hand in hand with increased poverty and social exclusion. As a consequence, reaching the Europe 2020 poverty and social inclusion target is more difficult than in 2010 when the new framework for multilevel socio-economic governance was launched. Also progress in the field of social assistance policies and towards the poverty target is even more urgent and relevant than before. The key social inclusion challenges are not well addressed also in 2012 NRPs. These actually confirm a too narrow approach to fight poverty and promote social inclusion. Importantly, the report highlights a weak connection between measures and targets. Considering MS' choices in setting their national target by NRPs (in line with the European headline target on poverty), in 2011 the majority of MS set realistic – as well as close to EU bodies' ambition - targets on poverty. However, alongside many MS defining national targets in accordance with the indicators agreed at European level (see section 5.2 - Goals, targets and indicators), many others did not follow EU guidelines and used different indicators (SPC 2011). These tendencies were confirmed also for 2012 as presented in table 12 showing the headline targets on poverty set in the NRPs for 2011 and 2012. In particular, ten countries (BG, DE, DK, EE, FR, IE, LV, NL, SE, UK) have used a different indicator from those agreed upon at the national level. This confirms that the introduction of the quantitative target and the selection of indicators at the European level was not an easy task and it was actually the result of a major debate around three main issues (Daly and Copeland 2012). The first was related to the definition of a single European target to be then translated into national sub-targets and was linked to the issue that the various countries are not expected to reduce poverty at the same level. The second issue concerned the poverty target to be expressed in absolute vs in relative terms (Interview 1 – Social Platform). The third regarded the specific indicators to be used in order to measure progress towards poverty reduction. Against this background, the fact that many countries adopted national indicators different from those agreed upon at the supranational level seems to be telling of a conflict which has stretched from the formulation to the implementation phase. Moreover, at present the multidimensional character of the target makes it impossible to monitor its implementation. In other words, the Commission finds it difficult to monitor progress towards the target because the three dimensions cannot be added each other (Interview 2-DG Employment).

Member state	Reduction of population at risk of poverty	y or social exclusion in number of persons
	NRPs 2011	NRPs 2012
AT	235	,000
BE	380	,000
BG	500,000*	260 000*
CY	27,	000
CZ	Maintaining the number of persons at risk of	poverty or social exclusion at the level of 2008
	(15.3% of total population) wit	h efforts to reduce it by 30,000
DE	330 000 (long-term unemployed)*	320 000 (long-term unemployed)*
DK	22,000 (persons living in househo	lds with very low work intensity)*
EE	61,860 people out	of risk-of-poverty*
EL		,000
ES	1,400,000	-1,500,000
FI		,000
FR		ate by one third for the period 2007-2012 or by
		0 people*
HU		,000
IE	186,000 by 2016*	200 000*
IT	-	0,000
LT		,000
LU	No target	6 000
LV		000*
MT		560
NL		000*
PL		0,000
PT		,000
RO		,000
SE		are not in the labour force (except full-time
		e on long-term sick leave to well under 14% by
CI.		20*
SI		000
SK		,000 Ethe 2010 Child Deverty Act*
UK Noto: *Countri		f the 2010 Child Poverty Act*

Table 12 Headline targets on poverty in 2011 and 2012 NRPs

Note: *Countries that have expressed their national target in relation to an indicator different than the EU headline target indicator

Source: Our elaboration from European Commission (2011a; 2012a)

The steering ability of EU bodies

During the first three years of implementation, the ability of EU bodies to influence or coordinate MS actions in the field of poverty as well as to support the social dimension of Europe 2020 seems to have been relatively limited. Certainly, the economic conjuncture since 2008 and the sovereign debt crisis in a number of MS have not contributed to create a favourable climate for robust anti-poverty initiatives. However, the increase of poverty in many European countries calls for a response both at the national and the supranational level. We therefore argue that the relatively limited steering capacities of EU bodies in the field of poverty and social exclusions depends on several interacting factors, among which the balance of power within the EU Commission between the various DGs, the governance architecture of EU2020 with particular reference to the interplay of the latter with the pre-existing strategy based on the Social OMC, the implementation of the new strategy with respect to the involvement of national (and local) governments and the stakeholders at the crucial stages of the European Semester.

More in details evidence of the relatively weak steering capacity can be found when considering: 1) the scarce attention to poverty-related issues in the three Annual Growth Surveys issued so far; 2) the limited use of the Country Specific Recommendations (CSRs) on poverty, 3) the features and the role of the European Platform Against Poverty and social exclusion within the Europe 2020 framework, and 4) the dismantlement of the main components of the Social OMC after 2010. In this section we present a preliminary analysis of these four points.

As illustrated above, in the framework of the European Semester, AGSs set priorities to orient the drafting of NRPs. However, when looking at the content of AGSs in the first three cycles of multilevel socio-economic coordination, it has to be noted that priorities do not cover all Europe 2020 headline targets. In particular, the fight against poverty has never been a priority in the three AGSs launched so far (see below table 13). The scarce attention to social and anti-poverty dimensions within the European Semester is also confirmed by the few CSRs issued by the Commission and the Council in the field of poverty, in contrast with "the only cross-country consistency in all recommendations [which] lies in the call for fiscal consolidation. This reduces the attention drawn upon the social policy and environmental dimensions" (Derruine and Tiedemann 2011; 6).

The fight against poverty in the novel Europe 2020 arena, however, was expected not to rely only on the toolkit provided by the European Semester, but also on actions and initiatives coordinated by the Flagship initiatives, the EPAP and social exclusion which was conceived to create a joint task involving MS, EU institutions and stakeholders. However, preliminary findings show that the organizational structure of the EPAP is possibly too weak to perform such a daunting task. The EPAP does not seem to have been endowed with adequate resources and it has limited dedicated staff (Interview 2-DG Employment). Also, in order to pursue the general goal of reducing poverty set by Europe 2020, the EPAP should be fully integrated with the other instruments of European socio-economic coordination and especially involved in the crucial steps of the European Semester (drafting of the AGS, meetings with MS before the drafting of NRSs, elaboration of the CSRs). However, this does not seem to be the case for the EPAP. In particular, the EPAP does not participate in the process of drawing up the CSRs, also due to the absence of national representatives in its staff (Interview 1- Social Platform). The most relevant - as well as visible - activities promoted by the EPAP are the organization of both the "Annual Convention" on Poverty and two/three annual "Stakeholder dialogue meetings" (see below). These events constitute important fora for discussion at the European level between different types of actors and may raise awareness on the Europe 2020 anti-poverty strategy and objectives.

Preliminary evidences seem to be more positive wen looking at the EPAP "a policy coordination platform" involving different DGs in actions related to the fight against poverty and social inclusion. Within the EPAP an inter-service group has actually been set up, involving more than twenty DGs. This group has implemented (or launched) several transversal actions that directly or indirectly address the issue of poverty and social inclusion (Interview 2–DG Employment). From this point of view, the EPAP appear to be effective in promoting cooperation among different DGs within the Commission as well as integration between policy sectors. It should be remembered, however, that many of these activities pre-existed the launch of the platform and the concrete ability of the EPAP to coordinate 65 different initiatives regard different sectors such as access to labour market, access to services, education and migration policies (see the complete list in Annex 4) has to be further investigated.

In sum, the preliminary analysis presented above tells that, while literature and commentators provided divergent views about the robustness of Europe 2020 anti-poverty strategy, weaknesses are particularly evident in implementation phase²¹. On the one hand, the governance stuctures in the field of poverty have resulted to be relatively weak both with respect to the EPAP and especially the fact that, since the launch of Europe 2020 the relationship of the latter with the Social OMC has remained rather ambigouos. The main components of the OMC - such as the national reports, the joint reports and related indicators - have actually been suspended or eliminated, and only the peer rewievs meetings are still in place. The elimination of the governance architecture of the OMC has thus not only dispersed an important legacy - in terms of knowedge and consolidated relationhips (interview 1-Social Platform) but also diluted social reporting activities in the broader framework of the Semester and socio-economic coordination. This has come to the detriment of the social and especially anti-poverty dimension also because in the first three cycles of the European Semester economic and fiscal coordination has gained momentum and this has implied a greater influence of economic DGs and ECOFIN than DG Employment and Social Affairs in the crucial junctures of the process of socio-economic coordination. In the words of a member of a European NGO "we no longer have a focus on inclusive growth, now the focus is on growth. Europe 2020 has disappeared" (interview 1- Social Platform). This lead us to consider how stakholders have been involved in the implementation of the Europe 2020 antipoverty strategy.

Stakeholder participation

The European Strategy against poverty aims to establish a multi-stakeholder arena by promoting wide social actors' participation both at national and European level. Preliminary findings say account for a relatively limited stakeholder involvement at both levels of government though there are signs that things are gradually improving in this respect (see below and section 7).

At the European level the emergence of a multi-stakeholder arena is promoted by two main formalized institutional *fora*. The first is represented by the "Stakeholders dialogue meetings" in which NGOs, social partners, foundations, international organizations, EU institutions and external bodies participate. There are two/three meetings per year, and about 100 organizations attend these meetings (Interview 2–DG Employment). However meetings "are used by the Commission more to provide information than to create room for joint decisions" (Interview 1– Social Platform). The second forum is the "Annual Convention Against Poverty" that according to some stakeholders is "the only visible initiative related to the Platform. The second annual convention has worked much better than the first one, but it is not clear what it will actually deliver, what is the concrete outcome of the annual convention"

²¹ According to Peña-Casas (2012), the social dimension of Europe 2020 was actually rather weak since the formulation phase and it has become even weaker in its implementation. About the "formulation phase", under the umbrella of "inclusive growth", cohesion and social inclusion are reduced to have the basic function of giving people the ability of anticipating and managing change. Poverty and social exclusion are considered the result of a lack of employability. In this framework, the objectives related to the fight against poverty are similar to the key paradigm of the European Employment Strategy. This makes clear that the priorities are on employment, labour market participation and adaptability. In order to reduce poverty, member states are called to ensure participation in the labour market and favour economic and social cohesion by promoting growth and employment. In sum, the "inclusive growth" and more in general the perception of poverty reduction in Europe 2020 has been oriented to increase participation in the labour market. A different account was provided, however, by the contributions in Marlier and Natali (2010) which put emphasis on the setting of the quantitative anti-poverty target coupled with the Flagship initiative represented by the EPAP.

(Interview 1–Social Platform). The main problem in this respect seems to be related to effectiveness of the Annual Convention in supporting actions aimed to achieve the Europe 2020 poverty target.

At national level, the Commission called for a strong involvement of stakeholders in the drafting of NRPs but little guidance for such involvement was provided thus far (interview 1 – Social Platform). Most interviewees pointed at a limited involvement of stakeholders in this process, though in 2012 participation was higher than in 2011. Another issue regards which stakeholders are and should be involved in the governance architecture. At the national level, mostly social partners - trade unions and employer representatives - have been included, much less NGOs (Interview 1– Social Platform).

7. Governance in the making: towards a more effective arena to combat poverty?

While in the previous sections we have highlighted the main weaknesses of the Europe 2020 anti-poverty arena with particular reference to the emergence of effective multilevel and multi-stakeholder governance architecture. This section aims at shedding light on subsequent attempts to address such weakness.

In fact, after the first year of implementation already, growing "problem pressures" (cf. section 6.1) and the increasingly lighter European social dimension (cf. section 6.2) have prompted a reaction by both politico-institutional actors and stakeholders in order to reinforce the Europe 2020 social dimension. Both NGOs voicing and actions taken by the most socially oriented components of the EU bodies – such as Directorate D within the DG.Empl. and the EPSCO Council - have tried to strengthen the fight against poverty and social exclusion also to tackle the social consequences of the crises and austerity measures (Interview 3–EAPN). This reaction has led to four main initiatives so far: 1) a *broader use of Country Specific Recommendations on poverty*; 2) an *attempt to revive the Social OMC*; 3) the launch of the *Social Investment Package* and the definition of a new guidance for using the *European funds*; 4) the re-launch of the "Active Inclusion Strategy".

AGS priorities and Country Specific Recommendations

When the first AGS was published in 2011, the emphasis was posed on the need for fiscal consolidation and sound public finances: also social policy measures were intended to contribute to achieve these goals especially via cost containment measures in the fields of pensions and health care. The 2012 AGS introduced a new priority, "tackling unemployment and the social consequences of the crisis" which indirectly addressed the issues of poverty and social inclusion thus introducing a proper social dimension within the AGS. This priority was confirmed in the 2013 AGS and it was accompanied by claims for further strengthening the social dimension. Though "austerity policies have remained the overwhelming message" (EAPN 2012; 7) of the European Semester (see table 13), in the framework of the new priority mentioned above, "active inclusion" is considered to be one of the main policy answers to address the social consequences of the crises (SPC 2013). As we will see in the following pages, this is fully consistent with the re-launch of the "active inclusion strategy" realized by the introduction of the "Social Investment Package".

20	011
Fundamental Prerequisites for Growth	1. Implementing a rigorous fiscal consolidation
	2. Correcting macroeconomic imbalances
	3. Ensuring stability of the financial sector
Mobilising Labour Markets, Creating Job Opportunities	4. Making work more attractive
	5. Reforming pensions systems
	6. Getting the unemployed back to work
	7. Balancing security and flexibility
Frontloading Growth – Enhancing measures	8. Tapping the potential of the Single Market
	9. Attracting private capital to finance growth
	10. Creating cost-effective access to energy
20	012
Pursuing differentiated growth-friendly fiscal consolida	tion
Restoring normal lending to the economy	
Promoting growth and competitiveness for today and t	omorrow
Tackling unemployment and the social consequences o	f the crisis
20	013
Pursuing differentiated, growth-friendly fiscal consolidation	ation
Restoring normal lending to the economy	
Promoting growth and competitiveness for today and t	omorrow
Tackling unemployment and the social consequences o	f the crisis
Modernising public administration	
Source, alabaration on European Commission (2010a.	20116 20126)

Table 13 Priorities in the Annual Growth Surveys, 2011, 2012, 2013

Source: elaboration on European Commission (2010a; 2011b, 2012b)

Parallel to change in emphasis of the AGS, also the usage of CSRs by the Commission and the Council has changed in the first two cycles of the European Semester. As stressed above (section 6.2) during the first year the adoption of CSRs in the field of poverty was really limited: in 2011 only three countries received a CSR (BG, CY, EE) and, among these, Bulgaria was the only one that received an entire paragraph on poverty. In line with this CSR, Bulgaria should combat "poverty and promote social inclusion, especially for vulnerable groups facing multiple barriers". The CSR suggested some instruments to take this challenge: e.g. the modernization of employment services and the support to young people with low skills. In the case of Estonia and Cyprus, CSRs address the issues of poverty under different headings. In the case of Estonia the issues of poverty is referred to under the heading of "labour market policy". Similarly, the CSR for Cyprus talks about high risk of poverty in the framework of "pension reform". Furthermore, CSRs for AT, BE, DE, HU, SK refer to the issue of low and medium income workers that implicitly falls in the field of poverty (Derruine and Tiedemann 2011).

 Table 14 Country Specific Recommendations on poverty 2011

Bulgaria Take steps to address the challenge of combating poverty and promoting social inclusion, especially for vulnerable groups facing multiple barriers. Take measures for modernising public employment services to enhance their capacity to match skills profiles with labour market demand; and focusing support on young people with low skills. Advance the educational reform by adopting a Law on Pre-School and School Education and a new Higher Education Act by mid-2012.

Cyprus

Improve the long-term sustainability of public finances by implementing reform measures to control pension and healthcare expenditure in order to curb the projected increase in age-related expenditure. For pensions, extend years of contribution, link retirement age with life expectancy or adopt other measures with an equivalent budgetary effect, while taking care to address the high at- risk-of-poverty rate for the elderly. For healthcare, take further steps to accelerate implementation of the national health insurance system.

Estonia

Take steps to support labour demand and to reduce the risk of poverty, by reducing the tax and social security burden in a budgetary neutral way, as well as through improving the effectiveness of active labour market policies, including by targeting measures on young people and the long-term unemployed, especially in areas of high unemployment

Source: our elaboration on COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS on the implementation of the broad guidelines for the economic policies of the Member States.

In 2012 the European Commission and the Council made larger use of CSRs than in 2011 (see table 15): a specific paragraph was dedicated to poverty issues in the case of four countries (BG, LV, LT, ES). In other cases poverty was addressed through other heading, such as reform pension (CY) or labour market policies (PL; UK). Moreover, the CSR for Austria refers to the issue of "income earners" which indirectly regards the poverty issue.

Table 15 Country Specific Recommendations on poverty 2012

Bulgaria
Accelerate the implementation of the national Youth Employment Initiative. Ensure that the minimum
thresholds for social security contributions do not discourage declared work.
Step up efforts to improve the Public Employment Service's performance. To alleviate poverty, improve
the effectiveness of social transfers and the access to quality social services for children and the elderly
and implement the National Roma Integration Strategy.
Latvia
Tackle high rates of poverty and social exclusion by reforming the social assistance system to make it
more efficient, while better protecting the poor. Ensure better targeting and increase incentives to work
Lithuania
Increase work incentives and strengthen the links between the social assistance reform and activation
measures, in particular for the most vulnerable, to reduce poverty and social exclusion.
Spain
Improve the employability of vulnerable groups, combined with effective child and family support
services in order to improve the situation of people at risk of poverty and/or social exclusion, and
consequently to achieve the well-being of children.
Cyprus
Further improve the long-term sustainability and adequacy of the pensions system and address the high
at-risk-of-poverty rate for the elderly. Ensure an increase in the effective retirement age, including
through aligning the statutory retirement age with the increase in life expectancy.
Poland
To reduce youth unemployment, increase the availability of apprenticeships and work-based learning,
improve the quality of vocational training and adopt the proposed lifelong learning strategy. Better
match education outcomes with the needs of the labour market and improve the quality of teaching. To
combat labour market segmentation and in-work poverty, limit excessive use of civil law contracts and
extend the probationary period to permanent contracts.
UK
Step up measures to facilitate the labour market integration of people from jobless households. Ensure
that planned welfare reforms do not translate into increased child poverty. Fully implement measures
aiming to facilitate access to childcare services

Source: our elaboration on COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS on the implementation of the broad guidelines for the economic policies of the Member States.

All this went hand in hand with other initiative by European bodies aimed to further reinforce the social and especially the anti-poverty dimension of Europe 2020. Among these, the attempt to reinvigorate the Social OMC by modifying MS' reporting tasks and the launch of the Social Investment Package in February 2013 also to revive the European strategy on Active Inclusion.

NSRs and the re-launch of the Social OMC

In 2012 the EPSCO Council and the SPC officially "reinvigorated" the Social OMC through four main actions: 1) the definition of new objectives; 2) the introduction of National Social Reports (NSRs); 3) the definition of new indicators to support social policy coordination 4) the publication of a first evaluation of the NSRs.

The new objectives were published in February 2012 and, as for the previous Social OMC, they were divided into "overarching objectives" and "specific objectives" referring to each strands of the OMC. Table 16 summarises the "overarching objectives" and the "objective of the strand of poverty and social inclusion".

 Table 16 Objectives of the OMC for Social Protection and Social Inclusion

Overarching objectives

Social cohesion, equality between men and women and equal opportunities for all through adequate, accessible, financially sustainable, adaptable and efficient social protection systems and social inclusion policies;

effective and mutual interaction between the Europe 2020 objectives of smart, sustainable and inclusive growth, taking full account of the relevant social provisions of the Lisbon Treaty;

good governance, transparency and the involvement of stakeholders in the design, implementation and monitoring of policy.

Objectives of the strand of poverty and social inclusion

A decisive impact on the eradication of poverty and social exclusion by ensuring:

access for all to the resources, rights and services needed for participation in society, preventing and addressing exclusion, and fighting all forms of discrimination leading to exclusion;

the active social inclusion of all, both by promoting participation in the labour market and by fighting poverty and exclusion;

that social inclusion policies are well-coordinated and involve all levels of government and relevant actors, including people experiencing poverty, that they are efficient and effective and mainstreamed into all relevant public policies, including economic, budgetary, education and training policies and structural fund (notably ESF) programmes.

Source: SPC (2012)

Following the SPC's initiative endorsed by the EPSCO Council in 2011, in February 2012 so-called NSRs for the OMC were also introduced. The SPC defined the main features of this novel tool for soft social policy coordination in a multilevel arena. The NSRs should 1) be coherent and complementary with the NRPs (avoiding overlapping), 2) cover the three strands of the Social OMC – that are social inclusion, pension and health care, long-term care, and 3) be succinct (length approximately 10 pages). Furthermore, according to the SPC, NSRs should show how stakeholders are involved in design, implementation, and monitoring of social policies. MS are also invited to consult stakeholders in the preparatory phase of NSRs (SPC 2012a). The NSRs should be submitted at the same time with the NRPs although there is no obligation on the MS: 21 countries drafted and delivered their NSRs in 2012.

As of the decision taken at the SPC meeting of 20-21 February, 2013, however, the NSRs are planned to continue as biennial exercise and are therefore scheduled for 2014; by contrast, in the third cycle of the Europe 2020 Strategy (2013) Member States are required to fill a "*Complementary Questionnaire*" in order to report on enacted reforms in the three OMC social policy fields – pensions, social exclusion and health/long term care – in the course of 2012. This testifies that the governance architecture of social Europe 2020 is still an unfinished business not least because socially oriented actors are actually mobilising to improve multilevel governance also (but not only) in the field of poverty and social exclusion and to provide better monitoring of social – and social policy – developments across MS.

In this vein, in October 2012, a new instrument was introduced to reinforce monitoring of the social situation and to strengthen "multilateral surveillance" by the SPC. This instrument is called "Social Protection Performance Monitor – SPPM" and consists of a portfolio of indicators in the field of social protection and social inclusion (see Annex 5). It includes "overarching indicators" to monitor the main social trends in EU countries, and "detailed indicators" for each strand of EU cooperation in the field of social protection and social inclusion (SPC 2012b). The establishment of this instrument is clearly in line with the attempt to re-launch a constitutive component of the Social OMC represented by the definition of "common indicators".

In January 2013 the SPC published the first annual report prepared in the context of the reinvigorated social OMC. As highlighted in its introduction, this report follows twelve years

of active SPC work which led to the publication of a number of Joint Reports on Social Protection and Social Inclusion with the European Commission and favoured mutual learning and policy exchange in the field of social protection and social inclusion" (SPC 2013, 12). This report can be considered an attempt to replicate the main function of the previous "joint report".

The social investment package and the proposal for using European Funds

By acknowledging the magnitude of social challenges in most MS, in 2012 the EU Commission has created a group of independent experts on social investment with the aim to identify viable strategies to strengthen the European social and especially anti-poverty dimension. As a result, in February 2013 the "*Social Investment Package*" was launched providing "a policy framework for redirecting Member States' policies, where needed, towards social investment throughout life, with a view to ensuring the adequacy and sustainability of budgets for social policies and for the government and private sectors as a whole (...)" (European Commission 2013a; 3).

In the Commission's view, Social Investment is an integral part of welfare systems which actually perform three different functions: social investment, social protection and stabilisation of the economy. Social investment is closely linked to strengthening people's current and future capabilities. This means that social policies have not only an immediate impact, but they also have lasting effects producing social and economic returns over time especially in terms of better employment prospects and higher incomes from labour. Broadly speaking, rather than repairing the consequences of social exclusion, social investment aims at equipping people to address life's risks.

From the Communication a new emphasis on "efficiency and effectiveness" of social protection emerges. First of all, the Commission asks for making "efficiency gains" in order to avoid that reforms could have a negative impact on social cohesion, poverty, health, productivity or economic growth. Second, the Commission maintains that the sustainability and adequacy of social policies require that MS are able to ensure both the efficiency and the effectiveness of their policies. This is particularly important considering that MS with similar levels of expenditure on social policies show different performances in fighting poverty, supporting employment and in terms of health outcomes. In this framework, the Commission highlighted that "there is a room for improvement in the way resources are used" (European Commission 2013a; 5).

The Commission then asked for implementing actions along three main lines: 1) strengthening Social Investment as part of the European Semester; 2) making the best use of EU funds to support social investment; 3) streamlining governance and reporting. The specific content of each strand is reported in the table 17.

Table 17 Actions and directions set out in the "Social Investment Package"

Strengthening social investment as part of the European Semester

Member States are urged to strengthen the involvement of relevant stakeholders at all levels, most notably social partners and civil society organisations, in the modernisation of social policy as part of the Europe 2020 Strategy.

Member States are urged to reflect in their National Reform Programmes the guidance provided in this Social Investment Package with a particular attention to: 1) Progress on putting an increased focus on social investment in their social policies, particularly on policies such as (child)care, education, training, active labour market policies, housing support, rehabilitation and health services; 2) The implementation of integrated active inclusion strategies, including through the development of reference budgets, increased coverage of benefits and services, and simplification of social systems through for instance a one-stop- shop approach and avoiding proliferation of different benefits.

The Commission will address social protection reform and the increased focus on social investment and active inclusion in Country Specific Recommendations and subsequent European Semesters. The Commission will moreover support Member States through enhanced monitoring of outcomes, and will underpin this together with the European Statistical System through improved and timelier statistics on poverty and outcomes of social and health policies.

Making the best use of EU funds to support social investment

Member States are urged to duly take into account the social investment dimension in the programming of the EU funds and the ESF in particular for the period 2014- 2020. This includes exploring innovative approaches to financing and financial engineering, drawing lessons from experiences such as those on Social Investment Bonds, microfinance and support to social enterprises.

The Commission will actively support Member States in their programming based upon the guidance contained in this Package and further operational thematic guidance e.g. on social innovation, deinstitutionalisation, and health.

Streamlining governance and reporting

Member States, through the relevant Committees, are urged to make proposals for strengthening the social dimension of the Europe 2020 Strategy, with a better connection to existing processes such as the open method of coordination and enhanced reporting on the performance of Member States' social systems. The Commission will further strengthen guidance and monitoring instruments, taking into account the existing macroeconomic, fiscal and employment governance tools, with a view to limit and address divergences related to social policies. Benchmarking and performance monitoring will be part of this exercise, building on the Social Protection Performance Monitor

The Commission will work closely together with Member States in the context of the relevant Council formations, the SPC and other relevant committees to support these reflections and will continue the dialogue with all relevant stakeholders, notably in the context of the Annual Convention of the Platform against Poverty and Exclusion.

Source: European Commission (2013a)

Last but definitely not least, the Communication also offered *guidance for using EU funds* in 2014-2020. In particular the Commission proposed that for the forthcoming budget period at least 25% of cohesion policy funds should be used for social investment and to increase the human capital. Furthermore, the Commission proposed that at least 20% of the European Social Fund of each MS should be allocated in the framework of the thematic aim of "promoting social inclusion and combating poverty".

The proposal of ring fencing a portion of the EU budget to promote social investment measures included in the new package actually re-launched the idea put forward by the EU Commission to support progress towards EU2020 anti-poverty targets by identifying dedicated resources. This proposal, which was formulated during negotiations on the multiannual EU financial framework 2014-2020, is particularly interesting because it testifies the increased salience and visibility of the poverty and social exclusion issue at the supranational level. In fact, the proposal prompted NGOs mobilization that campaigned to support Commission's position despite the reluctance of most, if not all MS. From our perspective both the proposal and subsequent mobilization are extremely relevant in that they

are telling of visible and vibrant – in terms of social actor mobilization – arena to fight poverty and social exclusion within the Europe 2020 overarching framework. As mentioned above, this will likely affect the still unfinished governance structure of the EU2020 social dimension; it remains to be seen if such development will be helpful to overcome the weaknesses that have so far prevailed.

The re-launch of the "Active Inclusion Strategy"

According to the Commission the "Active Inclusion Strategy" is a constitutive component of the "Social Investment Package"²². As we saw in section 3.2, in 2008 the Commission launched a "Recommendation on Active Inclusion" that defined the three main pillars of the strategy – i.e. adequate income support, inclusive labour markets, access to quality services - that now are an integral part of the social investment strategy.

The Commission emphasises not only the link between "social investment" and "active inclusion" but also the connection between active inclusion and Europe 2020. In particular, as the Commission pointed it out, three of the five headlines targets of Europe 2020 are connected to active inclusion policies. The development of an "inclusive labour market" is in line with the employment target (75% of those between 20 and 64 have to be employed by 2020). At the same time, active inclusion and especially high quality social services can also facilitate the achievement of goals in the field of education with particular reference to disadvantage people. Finally, active inclusion is crucial in order to reduce poverty (European Commission 2013b).

In the auspices of the Commission, the launch of the Social Investment Package should therefore (hopefully) help revitalize the 2008 Recommendation on Active Inclusion, whose implementation has been extremely weak in most member states. Evidence of this has been presented by two different reports recently published by the European Network of Independent Experts on Social Inclusion (Frazer and Marlier 2013) and the European Commission (2013b)²³.

The report of "independent experts" actually highlighted that despite several examples of useful measures adopted in specific areas – especially concerning activation of the unemployed - a comprehensive and integrated strategy able to mutually reinforce the three strands of the Recommendation is largely missing in most countries. The network of independent experts also proposed three main explanations for this lack of implementation. First, the focus on fiscal consolidation has reduced the ability to improve income support and ensure access to services while the rapid growth of unemployment made "inclusive labour market" the dominant strand in many countries. Second, many MS were not able to integrate the three strands of the Recommendation and the "active inclusion" that was often interpreted simply as "labour market activation". Thirdly, in some countries we find a weak belief in the

²² The Package is accompanied by a staff working documents includes the first evaluation of the implementation of the 2008 active inclusion recommendation in the MS. In this document the Commission maintains that the three pillars of the active inclusion strategy are integral part of the social investment approach (European Commission 2013b).

²³ Also the Social Protection Committee (within the first Annual Report) provided an assessment of active inclusion strategies presented by fifteen countries (AT, BE, BG, CY, DE, ES, IE, FI, FR, HU, LU, PT, RO, SE, SI) in order to respond to the AGS 2012 that consider active inclusion as instrument able to pursuit the target of "tackling unemployment and the social consequences of the crisis" (SPC 2013). This report is mainly focused on the particular choices of each MS; for this reason, it has been considered less relevant in this context.

integrated nature of the active inclusion approach. This is particularly true for what concerns the importance of ensuring income.

The analysis developed by the Commission is able to show the main policy features in the MS. As summarized in the table 18, the countries included in the groups "A" and "B" are characterized by high coverage and medium/high levels of generosity in "income support" (first pillar), also these countries have a low level of labour market segmentation and high activation (second pillar), high use of childcare and high participation in education and training (third pillar). In these countries, however, the good level of protection tends to create disincentives to work. By contrast, countries in the groups "D" and "E" have social protection systems not in line with active inclusion principles: low coverage and low generosity of income support for people at working age (first pillar), high labour market segmentation and low activation (second pillar), low use of childcare and low participation in education and training. In these countries the system does not tend to create disincentives to work.

	First	pillar	Second pillar	Third pillar
	Unemployment benefits first level of safety nets	Other benefits second level of safety nets	Inclusive labour markets	Access to services
Group A CZ FR NL AT SI SE (CY)	High coverage (SI) Medium to high generosity Long duration (CY) High disincentives	High coverage Medium to high generosity High disincentives (especially for second earners)	Low segmentation (FR) High activation (SI, CZ) No low wage trap	High childcare use (NL, AT, CZ) High participation in education/training (FR, CY)
Group B BE DK DE FI UK	Very high coverage (UK) High generosity High disincentives (UK) Long duration (UK)	High coverage High generosity High disincentives (especially for second earners) UK	High activation (UK) Low wage trap	High childcare (UK) Medium participation in education/training (BE, UK)
Group C Ireland	Very high generosity High disincentives	Very high generosity High disincentives	High activation	Low child care use Low participation in education and training
Group D BG HU IT MT PL RO	Medium coverage (BG, PL) Low generosity Low disincentives	Low coverage (MT, HU) Low generosity Low disincentives	High segmentation Low activation Low wage trap especially for 2nd earner(BG, RO)	Low childcare use Low participation in education and training (PL)
Group E EE EL ES LV LT PT SK	Low coverage Low generosity Low disincentives (LT LV)	Low coverage Low generosity (except LT for lone parents) Low disincentives (except for 2nd earners in LT, LV)	High segmentation Low activation (ES, PT) No low wage trap	Medium childcare use (SK) Medium/Low participation in education/training (PT EL ES)

 Table 18 Active inclusion policies in the Member States

Note: Outlier countries are signalled in strikeout font CC indicating that the given characteristic does not apply to that country.

Source: European Commission (2013b)

8. Conclusions

With the aim to both set the context and provide guidance for an in-depth analysis of multilevel and multi-stakeholder interaction in the field of anti-poverty and social exclusion in the 5 COPE countries (Germany, Italy, Poland, Sweden and the UK), this report had two main foci.

First, it aimed to reconstruct the policy tool-kit and governance architecture to combat poverty at the European level after the launch of the Europe 2020 strategy in 2010 by placing it in a longer historical perspective in order to detect change and continuity. Second, it proposed a preliminary assessment of the Europe 2020 anti-poverty strategy by posing the analytical lenses on some crucial dimensions of this novel policy arena: i) multilevel governance, that is the existence of interactions among different levels of government and especially the nature of these interactions within the framework of Europe 2020 and the European Semester; ii) multi-stakeholder participation, both at the supranational and the national (and in case also local) level; iii) integration, that is policy coordination at the various level of government in order to reach the EU2020 poverty target.

On the first front, a trend towards increased integration between social – and particularly antipoverty - policies and European economic governance has been identified and illustrated. Originally thought and designed to remain on "separate tracks" (Ferrera 2009) with social policies firmly in the hand of MS and beyond the scope of European actions, anti-poverty policies have in fact progressively become a fundamental component of "Social Europe" as well as an important field for supranational policy coordination with the launch of "soft" coordination processes such as the OMC in the early 2000s. Subsequently, the changes in the OMC governance structure following the mid-term review of the Lisbon strategy first, and the adoption of the novel Europe 2020 overarching architecture in 2010 have pursued deeper (at least formal) integration between anti-poverty (more generally, social) policies and financial-economic governance. Formal integration per se, however, does not imply a fair balance between the social and the economic dimensions of the European project. The outcomes of such a "re-coupling" of EU's economic and social governance - which is actually at the core of Europe 2020's strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth are in fact both uncertain and unstable and still in need to be closely investigated through indepth empirical research.

Against this backdrop, the second task of the report - that is assessing the new policy arena represented by the anti-poverty component of Europe2020 - relied, as mentioned, on preliminary research based on document analysis and the conduction of five interviews at the supranational level with institutional, social and political actors as well as experts. The launch of Europe 2020 has certainly represented discontinuity for supranational anti-poverty strategy in a number of respect: not only, as said above, because of the integration of social and anti-poverty policies in the overarching strategy for socio-economic coordination centred on the European Semester, but also for the setting of the first quantitative (anti-)poverty target coupled with the introduction of the Flagship "European Platform against Poverty and Social Exclusion". Implementation is, however, crucial and even more so in the case of "soft" processes of policy coordination such as (most) European social policy initiatives. We therefore focused on the actual functioning of the new strategy during the first 2 ½ years of implementation with the aim to capture to what extent the new Europe 2020 anti-poverty arena is actually characterized by effective multilevel and multi-stakeholder interaction as well as integration between different policy fields with the aim to tackle poverty.

Preliminary empirical evidences for the period 2011-2013 suggest a nuanced view with regard to the effectiveness of the current EU anti-poverty tool-kit in tackling poverty and social exclusion by mobilizing all relevant actors and levels of government as well as by favouring coordination across the policy spectrum. Both weaknesses and strengths may in fact be detected.

A number of factors can be enumerated to give account of the limited effectiveness of the Europe 2020 anti-poverty arena. Certainly, the economic conjuncture since 2008 and the sovereign debt crisis in a number of MS were not favourable conditions to robust anti-poverty initiatives, while both the "structural" (due to EU's constitutional prerogatives) and the contingent (due to on-going crises) balance of power within the EU Commission between the various DGs have severely limited the ability of EU bodies to effectively steer and coordinate anti-poverty initiatives in a multi-level and multi-stakeholder arena. The fight against poverty has thus never represented a priority in the three AGSs launched so far, only a few countries have received CSRs on poverty by the Commission and the Council, multilevel interaction i.e. supranational-national - in the framework of the European semester has mostly focused on economic and financial issues while it has remained formal in the field of poverty and social exclusion – i.e. briefly reporting by MS in their NRPs – and multi-level coordination (if any) has lagged behind. Also some specific features of the Europe 2020 social governance architecture have had a negative effect on the possible emergence of an effective multilevel anti-poverty arena. On the one hand, the suspension, or elimination, of the main components of the Social OMC – i.e. the national reports and the joint reports with related indicators – has not only dispersed an important legacy - in terms of knowledge and consolidated relationships - but also excessively diluted social reporting activities in the broader framework of the European Semester and (socio-)economic coordination. On the other hand, the EPAP, thought to be the main (Flagship) initiative aimed to support the achievement of the Europe 2020 poverty target, neither seems to be endowed with adequate resources and staff nor (most importantly) it is fully integrated in negotiations and decision making at the crucial stages of the European Semester (drafting of the AGS, meetings with MS before the drafting of NRSs, elaboration of the CSRs). The EPAP seems to be more effective in supporting the emergence of a multi-stakeholder arena via two main formalized institutional fora - the "Stakeholders dialogue meetings" and the "Annual Convention of the European Platform Against Poverty and Social Exclusion" - which nonetheless are not the loci where decisions are taken. Also, at the national level stakeholder involvement was limited in 2011 and it has only partly progressed in 2012.

Interestingly, however, after the first year of implementation it was possible to detect clear signs of a gradual emergence of a multilevel and multi-stakeholder anti-poverty arena around Europe 2020. At least three elements played a crucial role in this respect by increasing the saliency of the anti-poverty component of Europe 2020: i) the existence of the quantitative poverty objective among the Europe 2020 headline targets made the poverty issue highly visible at the supranational level; ii) the growing "problem pressure" – i.e. increasing poverty rates in most MS as well as at the European level – as consequence of both prolonged economic difficulties and austerity measures called for actions aimed tackle the social consequences of the crisis; these two factors in combination with iii) the perception of the weakened European social dimension prompted a reaction by both supranational politico-institutional actors and stakeholders in order to reinforce the Europe 2020 social and especially anti-poverty dimension. Overt stakeholder mobilization, NGOs voicing and actions taken by the most socially oriented components of the EU bodies – such as Directorate D within the DG.Empl. and EPSCO - have aimed at strengthening the fight against poverty and

social exclusion through the usage of different instruments. Four main initiatives are important in this respect: 1) a broader use of Country Specific Recommendations on poverty; 2) an attempt to revive the Social OMC via the definition of new objectives, the introduction of National Social Reports as complement to NRPs, the definition of new indicators to support social policy coordination, the publication of the first evaluation of the NSRs; 3) the assessment of the "Active Inclusion Strategy" and its subsequent re-launch also with 4) the launch of the Social Investment Package and the definition of a new guidance for using the European funds which includes the proposal of ring fencing a portion of the EU budget to promote social investment measures. This initiative, recalling the EU Commission's proposal - which was formulated during negotiations on the multiannual EU financial framework 2014-2020 - to support progress towards EU2020 anti-poverty targets by identifying dedicated resources tells of the increased salience and visibility of the issues of poverty and social exclusion at the supranational level not least because of subsequent NGOs mobilization to support Commission's position.

From our perspective all these actions and related social actors' mobilization are extremely relevant in that they are telling of a visible and vibrant arena to fight poverty and social exclusion within the Europe 2020 overarching framework. This will likely affect the still unfinished governance structure of the EU2020 social dimension; it remains to be seen if such development will be helpful to overcome the weaknesses that have so far prevailed.

Therefore, the preliminary findings presented in this report will have to be complemented by further evidence from future research. This will "track" changes by focusing both on the third year of implementation of Europe 2020 as well as on peer review meetings, the latter representing the only component of the Social OMC that was not suspended with the launch of Europe 2020.

References

- Armstrong, K. A. 2010, *Governing Social Inclusion. Europeanization through Policy Coordination*, Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Armstrong K. A., 2012, EU social policy and the governance architecture of Europe 2020, *Transfer*, Vol. 18, N. 3, pp. 285-300.
- Armstrong K., Begg I., Zeitlin J., 2008, The Open Method of Co-ordination and the Governance of the Lisbon Strategy, *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 46,2, pp. 436-450.
- Ballester, R., and Papadopoulos, T., 2009, *The Peer Review Process in the European Employment Strategy: a comprehensive analysis of operational outputs*, The European Research Institute Working Paper Series (ERI), n. 44, March 2009.
- Bauer, M. M., 2002, "The Commission and the poverty Programmes", *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 40 (3), pp. 381-400.
- Casey, B., and Gold, M. 2005, "Peer review of labour market programmes in the European Union: what countries really learn from one another?", *Journal of European Public Policy*, 12 (1), pp. 23-43.
- Copeland P., Daly M., 2012, Varieties of poverty reduction: Inserting the poverty and social exclusion target into Europe 2020, *Journal of European Social Policy*, 22(3), 273-287.
- Council 1989, Resolution of the Council and the ministers for social affairs meeting within the Council of 29 September on combating social exclusion, Official Journal C 277, 31/10/1989, P.0001 0001.
- Council 1992, Council Recommendation of 24 June 1992on common criteria concerning sufficient resources and social assistance in social protection systems (92/441/CEE), Official Journal L 245, 26/8/1992, P. 0046-0048.
- Cram, L., 1993, "Calling the tune without paying the piper? Social policy regulation: the role of the Commission in European Community social policy", *Policy and Politics*, 21 (2), pp. 135-146.
- Daly M., 2006, EU Social Policy after Lisbon, *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 44, 3, pp. 461-481.
- Daly M., 2007, Whither EU social Policy? An account assessment of Developments in the Lisbon social inclusion process, *Journal of Social Policy*, Vol. 37, 1, pp. 1-19.
- Daly M., 2010, Assessing the EU approach to combating poverty and social exclusion in the last decade, in E. Marlier and D. Natali (eds.) with R. Vand dam, *Europe 2020: Towards a more social EU?*, Brussels, PIE Peter Lang, pp. 139-157.
- De la Porte C, Pochet P., 2005, Participation in the Open Method of Co-ordination. The case of Employment and Social Inclusion, in Zeitlin J., Pochet P., with Magnusson L., (eds) *The Open Method of Co-ordination in Action. The European Employment and Social Inclusion Strategies*, Brussels, P.I.E.-Peter Lang, pp. 353-389.
- Derruine O., Tiedemann A., 2011, *The first European Semester and its contribution to the EU2020 strategy*, http://www.greens-efa.eu/de/the-first-european-semester-and-itscontribution-to-the-eu2020-strategy-4638.html
- EAPN 2012, An EU Worth Defending Beyond Austerity to Social Investment and Inclusive Growth. EAPN analysis of the 2012 National Reform Programmes (NRPs) and National Social Reports (NSRs), www.eapn.eu.
- European Commission 2008, *Recommendation on the Active Inclusion of the people excluded from the labour market*, 2008/867/EC.
- European Commission 2010a, Annual Growth Survey: advancing the EU's comprehensive response to the crisis, COM(2011) 11 final.

- European Commission 2010b, *The European Platform against Poverty and Social Exclusion:* A European framework for social and territorial cohesion, SEC(2010) 1564 final.
- European Commission 2011a, Progress report on Europe 2020 strategy, COM(2011) 815 final, VOL. 2/5 ANNEX I.
- European Commission 2011b, Annual Growth Survey 2012, COM(2011) 815 final, VOL. 1/5.

European Commission 2012a, Action for stability, Growth and Jobs, COM(2012) 299 final.

European Commission 2012b, Assessment of progress towards the Europe 2020 social inclusion objectives, <u>http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?langId=it&catId=1023&newsId=1779&furtherNe</u> ws=yes.

European Commission 2012b, Annual Growth Survey 2013, COM(2012) 750 final.

- European Commission 2013a, Towards Social Investment for Growth and Cohesion including implementing the European Social Fund 2014-2020, COM(2013) 83 final.
- European Commission 2013b, Follow-up on the implementation by Member States of the 2008 European Commission recommendation on active inclusion of people excluded from the labour market Toward a social investment approach, SWD(2013) 39 final.
- Ferrera, M., 2005, *The Boundaries of Welfare. European Integration and the new Spatial Politics of Social Protection*, Oxford/New York: Oxford University Press.
- Ferrera, M., 2009, The JCMS Annual Lecture: National Welfare States and European Integration: In Search of a 'Virtuous Nesting'. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, Vol. 47 (2): pp. 219-233.
- Ferrera M., Matsaganis M., Sacchi S., 2002, Open Coordination against poverty: the new EU "social inclusion process", *Journal of European Social Policy*, Vol. 12 (3), pp. 227-239.
- Frazer, H., Marlier E., 2012, 2011 Assessment of Social Inclusion Policy Development in the EU. Main funding and suggestion on the way forward, www.ceps.lu/publi_viewer.cfm?tmp=1800.
- Frazer, H., Marlier E., 2010, Strengthening social inclusion in the Europe 2020 strategy by learning from the past, ?, in E. Marlier and D. Natali (eds.) with R. Vand dam, *Europe 2020: Towards a more social EU*?, Brussels, PIE Peter Lang, pp. 221-248.
- Frazer, H., Marlier E. together with D. Natali, R. Van dam and B. Vanhercke (2010), "Europe 2020: Towards a more social EU?", in E. Marlier and D. Natali (eds.) with R. Vand dam, *Europe 2020: Towards a more social EU?*, Brussels, PIE Peter Lang, pp. 11-41.
- Frazer, H., Marlier E., 2013, Assessment of the implementation of the European Commission Recommendation on Active Inclusion: A study of national policies, http://ec.europa.eu/s.
- Gilson, S. and Glorieux, M. 2005, "Le droit à l'intégration sociale comme première figure emblématique de l'Etat social actif", in Vielle, P., Pochet, P. and Cassiers I. (eds), *L'Etat social actif – Vers un changement de paradigme*, Collection Travail et Société, n° 44, P.I.E.-Peter Lang, Brussels, pp 233-255.
- Hartley, J., and Benington, J. 2006, "Copy and paste, or graft and transplant? Knowledge sharing through inter-organizational networks", *Public Money and Management*, 26 (2), pp. 101-108.
- Heidenreich, M, Zeitlin, J. 2009, Changing European Employment and Welfare Regimes: The Influence of the Open Method of Coordination on National Labour Market and Social Welfare Reforms, London: Routledge.
- Hvinden B., Halvorsen R., 2012, Political Implications of the Current Debate on Poverty, Deprivation and Social Exclusion in Europe. What guidance do scholarly perspectives and conceptualisations offer?, Deliverable D.2.1 from FP7 project

"Combating Poverty in Europe: Re-organising Active Inclusion through Participatory and Integrated Modes of Multilevel Governance" (COPE).

- INBAS, ENGENDER, 2010, Study on Stakeholders' Involvement in the Implementation of the Open Method of Coordination (OMC) in Social Protection and Social Inclusion, http://www.stakeholders-socialinclusion.eu/site/en.
- Marlier, E., Natali, D with R. Vand dam (eds) 2010, *Europe 2020: Towards a more social EU*?, Brussels, PIE Peter Lang.
- ÖSB, CEPS, IES, APPLICA (n.y.), Operational Guide- Peer Reviews.
- OSE and PPMI 2012a, Analysis and Follow-up of Mutual Learning in the Context of Peer Review in the Social Protection and Social Inclusion Programme. Task 3/Deliverable 3. Host Country Assessment, Synthesis Report, May 2012, available at http://www.ose.be/files/publication/2012/PeerReeview 2012 SyntRep1_HostCountry AssessmentAEC_0512.pdf.
- OSE and PPMI 2012b, Analysis and Follow-up of Mutual Learning in the Context of Peer Review in the Social Protection and Social Inclusion Programme. Task 4/Deliverable 4. Peer Country Assessment, Synthesis Report, May 2012, available at http://www.ose.be/files/publication/2012/PeerReeview 2012 SyntRep2 PeerCountry AssessmentAEC_0512.pdf.
- Peña-Casas, R., 2002, Action against poverty and social exclusion: first phase completed. Social develoments in the European Union 2001, Degreyse C., Pochet P. (eds.) (eds.) Brussels: OSE, ISE, SALTSA, pp. 139–163.
- Peña-Casas, R., 2004, Second phase of the open method of co-ordination on social inclusion, Social develoments in the European Union 2003, Degreyse C., Pochet P. (eds.), Brussels: OSE, ISE, SALTSA, pp. pp. 95-117.
- Peña-Casas, R., 2012, Europe 2020 and fight against poverty and social exclusion: fooled into marriage?, Social development in the European Union 2011, Natali D., Vanhercke B., (eds.) Brussels: OSE, ETUI, pp. 159-185.
- Pochet, P., 2005, "The Open Method of Co-ordination and the Construction of Social Europe. A Historical Perspective", in J. Zeiltin, P.Pochet (eds) with L. Magnusson, *The Open Method of Co-ordination in Action. The European Employment and Social Inclusion Strategies*, Brussels: P.I.E.-Peter Lang, pp. 37-82.
- PPMI 2011, Evaluation of the effectiveness and impact of the social OMC since 2006 (deliverable 7). Suggestion for improvement and strengthening of the effectiveness and impact of the social OMC (deliverable 8), ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=9638&langId=en.
- PPMI and OSE 2012 (eds.), Analysis and Follow-up of mutual Learning in the Context of Peer Review in the Social Protection and Social Inclusion Programme, evaluation carried out on behalf of the European Commission.
- Rhodes, M., 2005, "Employment Policy. Between Efficacy and Experimentation", in H. Wallace, W. Wallace and M. Pollack (eds.), *Policy Making in the European Union* (V edition), Oxford: Oxford university Press, pp. 279-304.
- Sabato, S., 2012, *The Peer- review Meetings in the European Employment Strategy: Dynamics, Opportunities and Limits for Member States' Learning*, Centro di Ricerca e Documentazione L. Einaudi- Laboratorio di Politica Comparata e Filosofia Pubblica, WP-LPF 1/2012.
- Sabato, S. and Peña-Casas, R., 2012, "Case study 3. Peer review on Minimum Income and Social Integration Institutional Arrangements. Belgium, 7-8 November 2005", in PPMI and OSE (eds.), *Analysis and Follow-up of mutual Learning in the Context of Peer Review in the Social Protection and Social Inclusion Programme.*.

- Scharpf, F., 2002, "The European Social Model: Coping with Diversity", *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 40 (4), pp. 645-670.
- SPC 2011, The Social Dimension of the Europe 2020 Strategy. A Report of the Social Protection Committee (2011), http://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=738&langId=en&pubId=5976&type=2&furt herPubs=no.
- SPC 2012a, Preparation of the 2012 National Social Reports (NRS), SPC/2012.2/4.
- SPC 2012b, Social protection performance monitor (SPPM) methodological report by the Indicators Sub-group of the Social Protection Committee, <u>http://ec.europa.eu/</u>.
- SPC 2013, Social Europe. Current challenges and the way forward. Annual Report of the Social Protection Committee, <u>http://ec.europa.eu/</u>.
- Vanhercke, B., 2011, Is the Social Dimension of Europe 2020 an oxymoron?, in C. Degryse and D. Natali (eds.), *Social Developments in the EU*, Brussels, ETUI/OSE, pp. 141-174.
- Zeitlin J., 2010, Towards a stronger OMC in a more social Europe 2020: A new governance architecture for EU policy coordination, in E. Marlier and D. Natali (eds.) with R. Vand dam, *Europe 2020: Towards a more social EU*?, Brussels, PIE Peter Lang, pp. 249-269.

List of interviews

Institution/Organisation	Date	Reference	
Social policy working group -	15 January 2013	Interview 1-Social Platform	
Social Platform			
DG Employment and Social	15 January 2013	Interview 2- DG Employment	
Affairs and Inclusion –			
Directorate D			
European Anti-Poverty	7 December 2012	Interview 3- EAPN	
network			
EU Network of Independent	5 December 2012	Interview 4- Network of Ind.	
Experts on Social Inclusion		experts	
European Parliament	6 December 2012	Interview 5- MEP	

	_	PRIMARY INDICATORS	
	Indicator	Definition	Data sources + most recent year available
1a	Low income rate after transfers with breakdowns by age and gender	Percentage of individuals living in households where the total equivalised household income is below 60% national equivalised median income. Age groups are: 1.0-15, 2.16-24, 3.25-49, 4.50-64, 5. 65+. Gender breakdown for all age groups + total	Eurostat ECHP 1997
1b	Low income rate after transfers with breakdowns by most frequent activity status	Percentage of individuals aged 16+ living in households where the total equivalised household income is below 60% national equivalised median income. Most frequent activity status: 1.employed, 2.self- employed, 3.unemployed, 4.retired, 5.inactives-other. Gender breakdown for all categories + total	Eurostat ECHP 1997
1c	Low income rate after transfers with breakdowns by household type	 Percentage of individuals living in households where the total equivalised household income is below 60% national equivalised median income. 1. 1 person household, under 30 yrs old 2. 1 person household, 30-64 3. 1 person household, 65+ 4. 2 adults without dependent child; at least one person 65+ 5. 2 adults without dep. child; both under 65 6. other households without dep. Children 7. single parents, dependent child 1+ 8. 2 adults, 1 dependent child 9. 2 adults, 2 dependent children 10. 2 adults, 3+ dependent children 11. other households with dependent children 12. Total 	Eurostat ECHP 1997
1d	Low income rate after transfers with breakdowns by tenure status	Percentage of individuals living in households where the total equivalised household income is below 60% national equivalised median income. 1. Owner or rent free 2. Tenant 3. Total	Eurostat ECHP 1997
1e	Low income threshold (illustrative values)	The value of the low income threshold (60% median national equivalised income) in PPS, Euro and national currency for: 1. Single person household 2. Household with 2 adults, two children	Eurostat ECHP 1997
2	Distribution of income	S80/S20: Ratio between the national equivalised income of the top 20% of the income distribution to the bottom 20%.	Eurostat ECHP 1998
3	Persistence of low income	Persons living in households where the total equivalised household income was below 60% median national equivalised income in year n and (at least) two years of years n-1, n- 2, n-3. Gender breakdown + total	Eurostat ECHP 1999
4	Relative median low income gap	Difference between the median income of persons below the low income threshold and the low income threshold, expressed as a percentage of the low income threshold. Gender breakdown + total	Eurostat ECHP 2000
5	Regional cohesion	Coefficient of variation of employment rates at NUTS 2 level.	Eurostat LFS (2000)
6	Long term unemployment rate	Total long-term unemployed population (≥12 months; ILO definition) as proportion of total active population; Gender breakdown + total	Eurostat LFS (2000)
7	Persons living in jobless	Persons aged 0-65 (0-60) living in households where none is working out of the persons living in eligible	Eurostat LFS

Annex 1. List of "Primary and Secondary indicators" on poverty and social inclusion (Lisbon I)

	households	households. Eligible households are all except those where everybody falls in one of these categories:	(2000)
		- aged less than 18 years old - aged 18-24 in education and inactive - aged 65 (60) and over and not working	
8	Early school leavers not in education or training	Share of total population of 18-24-year olds having achieved ISCED level 2 or less and not attending education or training. Gender breakdown + total	Eurostat LFS (2000)
9	Life expectancy at birth	Number of years a person may be expected to live, starting at age 0, for Males and Females.	Eurostat Demography Statistics
10	Self defined health status by income level.	Ratio of the proportions in the bottom and top quintile groups (by equivalised income) of the population aged 16 and over who classify themselves as in a bad or very bad state of health on the WHO definition Gender breakdown + total	Eurostat ECHP 1997
		SECONDARY INDICATORS	
11	Dispersion around the low income threshold	Persons living in households where the total equivalised household income was below 40, 50 and 70% median national equivalised income	Eurostat ECHP 1997
12	Low income rate anchored at a moment in time	Base year ECHP 1995. 1. Relative low income rate in 1997 (=indicator 1) 2. Relative low income rate in 1995 multiplied by the inflation factor of 1994/96	Eurostat ECHP 1998
13	Low income rate before transfers	Relative low income rate where income is calculated as follows: 1. Income excluding all social transfers 2. Income including retirement pensions and survivors pensions. 3. Income after all social transfers (= indicator 1) Gender breakdown + total	Eurostat ECHP 1997
14	Gini coefficient	The relationship of cumulative shares of the population arranged according to the level of income, to the cumulative share of the total amount received by them	Eurostat ECHP 1997
15	Persistence of low income (below 50% of median income)	Persons living in households where the total equivalised household income was below 50% median national equivalised income in year n and (at least) two years of years n-1, n- 2, n-3. Gender breakdown + total	Eurostat ECHP 1997
16	Long term unemployment share	Total long-term unemployed population (≥12 months; ILO definition) as proportion of total unemployed population; Gender breakdown + total	Eurostat LFS 2000
17	Very long term unemployment rate	Total very long-term unemployed population (≥24 months; ILO definition) as proportion of total active population; Gender breakdown + total	Eurostat LFS 2000
18	Persons with low educational attainment	Educational attainment rate of ISCED level 2 or less for adult education by age groups (25- 34, 35-44, 45-54, 55-64). Gender breakdown + total	Eurostat LFS 2000

OVERARCHING INDICATORS						
	Indicator	Definition	Breakdowns			
1a	EU: At-risk-of-poverty rate + Illustrative threshold	Share of persons aged 0+ with an equivalised disposable income below 60% of the national median equivalised disposable income* .	By age: Total, 0-17, 18-64, 65+			
	value	Source: SILC	By gender (not 0-17)			
		*Median equivalised disposable income is defined as the household's total disposable income divided by its "equivalent size", to take account of the size and composition of the household, and is attributed to each household member (including children). Equivalization is made on the basis of the OECD modified scale.				
1b	EU: Relative median poverty risk gap	Difference between the median equivalised income of persons aged 0+ below the at-risk-of poverty threshold and the threshold itself, expressed as a percentage of the at-risk-of poverty threshold. Source: SILC				
2	EU: S80/S20	Ratio of total income received by the 20% of the country's population with the highest income (top quintile) to that received by the 20% of the country's population with the lowest income (lowest quintile). Income must be understood as equivalised disposable income. Source: SILC	None			
3	NAT: Healthy life expectancy	Number of years that a person at birth, at 45, at 65 is still expected to live in a healthy condition (also called disability- free life expectancy). To be interpreted jointly with life expectancy Source: Eurostat	At birth, at 45, at 65 By sex (By SES)			
4	EU: Early school leavers	Share of persons aged 18 to 24 who have only lower secondary education (their highest level of education or training attained is 0, 1 or 2 according to the 1997 International Standard Classification of Education – ISCED 97) and have not received education or training in the four weeks preceding the survey. Source: LFS	By sex			
5	EU: People living in jobless households	Proportion of people living in jobless households, expressed as a share of all people in the same age group . This indicator should be analysed in the light of context indicator N°8: jobless households by main household types Source: LFS	By age: 0-17, 18-59 By sex (18+ only)			
6	NAT: Projected Total Public Social expenditures	Age-related projections of total public social expenditures (e.g. pensions, health care, long-term care, education and unemployment transfers), current level (% of GDP) and projected change in share of GDP (in percentage points) (2010-20- 30-40-50) Specific assumptions agreed in the AWG/EPC. See "The 2005 EPC projections of age-related expenditures (2004-2050) for EU-25: underlying assumptions and projection methodologies" Source: EPC/AWG				

Annex 2. List of "Overarching indicator" and "social inclusion indicators" (Lisbon II)

7a	EU: Median relative	Median equivalised income of people aged 65+ as a ratio of income of people aged 0-64	-
	income of elderly people	Source: EU-SILC	
7b	EU: Aggregate	Median individual pensions of 65-74 relative to median individual earnings of 50-59, excluding other social benefits	By sex
	replacement ratio	Source: EU-SILC	
8	NAT: Self reported	Total self-reported unmet need for medical care for the following three reasons: financial barriers + waiting times + too far	By income
	unmet need for medical	to travel	quintile
	care	To be analysed together with care utilisation defined as the number of visits to a doctor (GP or specialist) during the last 12	
	NAT: Care utilisation	months.	
		Source: EU-SILC available annually subject to adjustment of EU-SILC in the future	
9	EU: At-risk-of-poverty	Share of persons aged 0+ with an equivalised disposable income below the at-risk-of-poverty threshold calculated in year	By age:
	rate anchored at a fixed	2004 (1st EU-SILC income reference year for all 25 EU countries), up-rated by inflation over the years.	Total, 0-17, 18-
	moment in time (2004)	Source: SILC	64, 65+
			By sex (18+
			only)
10	EU: Employment rate of	Persons in employment in age groups 55 - 59 and 60 – 64 as a proportion of total population in the same age group	By age:
	older workers	Source: LFS	55-59; 60-64
			By sex
11	EU: In-work poverty risk	Individuals who are classified as employed (distinguishing between "wage and salary employment plus self-employment"	By sex
		and "wage and salary employment" only) and who are at risk of poverty.	
		This indicator needs to be analysed according to personal, job and household characteristics. It should also be analysed in	
		comparison with the poverty risk faced by the unemployed and the inactive.	
		Source: SILC	
12	EU: Activity rate	Share of employed and unemployed people in total population of working age 15-64	By sex and age:
		Source: LFS	15-24, 25-54,
			55-59; 60-64;
			Total
13	NAT: Regional disparities		
	 coefficient of variation 		
	of employment rates	Source: LFS	
14	NAT: total health	Total health expenditure per capita in PPP	
	expenditure per capita	Source: EUROSTAT based on system of health accounts (SHA) data	
	ntext information		
1	GDP growth	Growth rate of GDP volume - percentage change on previous year	
		Source: Eurostat STRIND	
2a	Employment rate, by sex	The employment rate is calculated by dividing the number of persons aged 15 to 64 in employment by the total population	
		of the same age group.	

i i	1	Source: LFS	1	
2b	Unemployment rate, by sex, and key age groups	Unemployment rates represent unemployed persons as a percentage of the labour force. The labour force is the total number of people employed and unemployed. Unemployed persons comprise persons aged 15 to 74 who were: a. without work during the reference week, b. currently available for work, i.e. were available for paid employment or self-employment before the end of the two weeks following the reference week, c. actively seeking work, i.e. had taken specific steps in the four weeks period ending with the reference week to seek paid employment or self-employment or who found a job to start later, i.e. within a period of, at most, three months. Source: LFS		
2c	Long term unemployed (12 months and more) persons are those aged at least 15 years not living in collective househousehousehousehousehousehousehouse			
3	Life expectancy at birth and at 65	LE at birth: The mean number of years that a newborn child can expect to live if subjected throughout his life to the current mortality conditions (age specific probabilities of dying). LE at 65: The mean number of years still to be lived by a person who have reached 65, if subjected throughout the rest of his life to the current mortality conditions (age specific probabilities of dying). Source Eurostat - Demography		
4	Old age dependency ratio, current and projected	Ratio between the total number of elderly persons of an age when they are generally economically inactive (aged 65 and over) and the number of persons of working age (from 15 to 64). Source Eurostat - Demography		
5	Distribution of population by household types, including collective households	Number and % of people living in private resp. collective households. Source Eurostat - Census 2001 data collection		
6	Public debt, current and projected, % of GDP	Government debt is the consolidated gross debt of the whole general government sector outstanding at the end of the year (in nominal value). These data are reported to the European Commission in the framework of the Excessive Deficit Procedure (EDP). Projections are produced by the Commission Services in the context of the assessment of the long-term sustainability of the public finances based on the 2005/06 updates of Stability and Convergence Programmes (SCPs). http://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/publications/european_economy/2006/ee306_en.pdf		
7	Social protection expenditure, current, by function, gross and net	Total social protection expenditures broken down in social benefits, administration cost and other expenditure. In addition, social benefits are classified by functions of social protection. Net expenditures are not presented here since they are not available in ESSPROS yet.		

1	(ESPROSS)	Source: Eurostat - ESSPROS			
8	Jobless households by	Breakdown of jobless households by main household types			
	main household types	Source: LFS			
9	Making work pay indicators (unemployment trap, inactivity trap (esp. second earner case), low-wage trap.	king work payUnemployment trap:Marginal effective tax rate (METR) on labour income taking account of the combined effect of increased taxes and benefits withdrawal as one takes up a job. Calculated as the ratio of change in gross income minus (r in work income minus net out of work income) divided by change in gross income for a single person moving from unemployment to a job with a wage level of 67% of APW.ond earner case),Inactivity trap:METR on labour income taking account of the combined effect of taxes and benefits withdrawa			
		Source: Joint Commission -OECD project using tax-benefit Models			
	Net income of social assistance recipients as a % of the at-risk of poverty threshold for 3 jobless household types	benefits – e.g. unemployment or disability schemes – or from work). The aim of such an indicator is to evaluate if the safety nets provided to those households most excluded from the labour market are sufficient to lift people out of poverty. This indicator is calculated on the basis of the tax-benefit models developed jointly by the OECD and the European Commission. It is only calculated for Countries where non-categorical social benefits are in place and for 3 jobless household types: single, lone parent, 2 children and couple with 2 children. This indicator is especially relevant when analysing MWP indicators. Source: Joint EC-OECD project using OECD tax-benefit models, and Eurostat (see Chapter I and Annex I)			
	At-risk of poverty rate before social transfers (other than pensions), 0- 17, 18-64, 65+	This indicator is meant to compare the observed risk of poverty with a hypothetical measure of a risk of poverty in absence of all social transfers (other than pensions) all things being kept equal. In particular, household and labour market structure are kept unchanged. This measure does not take into account other types of transfers that have an impact on household disposable income such as transfers in kind and tax rebates. Source: SILC			
12	NAT: change in projected theoretical replacement ratio for base case 2004-2050	Change in the theoretical level of income from pensions at the moment of take-up related to the income from work in the last year before retirement for a hypothetical worker (base case), percentage points, 2004-2050, with information on the type of pension scheme (DB, DC or NDC) and changes in the public pension expenditure as a share of GDP, 2004-2050. This information can only collectively form the indicator called projected theoretical replacement ratio.			

accompanied with information on type of pension scheme [DB (defined benefit), DC (defined contribution), NDC (notional defined contribution)] and NAT: change in projected theoretical replacement ratio for base case 2004-2050 accompanied with information on type of pension scheme (DB, DC, NDC) and change in projected public pension	Results relate to current and projected, gross (public and private) and total net replacement rates, and should be accompanied by information on representativeness and assumptions (contribution rates and coverage rate, public and private), and calculations of changes in replacement rates for 1 or 2 other cases, if suitable (e.g. OECD). Specific assumptions agreed in the ISG. For further details, see 2006 report on Replacement Rates. http://ec.europa.eu/employment_social/social_protection/docs/isg_repl_rates_en.pdf Source: ISG and AWG	
expenditure 2004-2050	SOCIAL INCLUSION INDICATORS	
Indicator	Definition	Breakdowns
EU: At-risk-of poverty	Share of persons aged 0+ with an equivalised disposable income below 60% of the national equivalised median income.	Age groups:
rate	Share of persons aged of with an equivalised disposable income below 00% of the national equivalised median income.	17; 18-64;
+ illustrative threshold	Equivalised median income is defined as the household's total disposable income divided by its "equivalent size", to take	65+, gender
values	account of the size and composition of the household, and is attributed to each household member. Equivalization is made on the basis of the OECD modified scale.	05+, gender
	Complemented by the value of the at-risk-of-poverty threshold (60% median national equivalised income) in PPS for two	
	illustrative households: a single-person household and a household consisting of two adults and two children.	
EU: Persistent at-risk of poverty rate	Share of persons aged 0+ with an equivalised disposable income below the at-risk-of-poverty threshold in the current year and in at least two of the preceding three years.	Age groups: 17; 18-64;
		65+, gende
EU: Relative median	Difference between the median equivalised income of persons aged 0+ below the at-risk-of poverty threshold and the	Age groups:
poverty risk gap	threshold itself, expressed as a percentage of the at-risk-of poverty threshold.	17; 18-64;
		65+, gende
EU: Long term unemployment rate	Total long-term unemployed population (≥12 months' unemployment; ILO definition) as a proportion of total active population aged 15 years or more.	Gender
EU: Population living in	Proportion of people living in jobless households, expressed as a share of all people in the same age group.	

jobless households	This indicator should be analysed in the light of context indicator N°8: jobless households by main household types Source: LFS	17; 18-64; 65+, gender			
EU: Early school leavers not in education or training	Share of persons aged 18 to 24 who have only lower secondary education (their highest level of education or training attained is 0, 1 or 2 according to the 1997 International Standard Classification of Education – ISCED 97) and have not received education or training in the four weeks preceding the survey.				
EU: Poverty risk by	Poverty risk for the total population aged 0+ in the following household types:				
household type	Households with no dependent children:				
	- Single person, under 65 years old				
	- Single person, 65 years and over				
	- Single women				
	- Single men				
	- Two adults, at least one person 65 years and over				
	- Two adults, both under 65 years				
	- Other households				
	Households with dependent children:				
	- Single parent, 1 or more dependent children				
	- Two adults, one dependent child				
	- Two adults, two dependent children				
	- Two adults, three or more dependent children				
	- Three or more adults with dependent children				
EU: Poverty risk by the	Poverty risk for the total population aged 0+ in different work intensity categories and broad household types.	Age groups: (
work intensity of	The work intensity of the household refers to the number of months that all working age household members have been	17; 18-64;			
households	working during the income reference year as a proportion of the total number of months that could theoretically be	65+, gender			
	worked within the household.				
	Individuals are classified into work intensity categories that range from WI=0 (jobless household) to WI=1 (full work				
	intensity).				
EU: Poverty risk by most	Poverty risk for the adult population (aged 18 years and over) in the following most frequent activity status groups:	Age groups: (
frequent activity status	employment (singling out wage and salary employment); unemployment; retirement; other inactivity.	17; 18-64;			
	The most frequent activity status is defined as the status that individuals declare to have occupied for more than half the	65+, gender			
	number of months in the calendar year for which information on occupational status is available.				
EU: Poverty risk by	Poverty risk for the total population aged 0+ in the following accommodation tenure categories:	Age groups: (
accommodation tenure	- Owner-occupied or rent free	17; 18-64;			
status	- Rented	65+, gender			
EU: Dispersion around	Share of persons aged 0+ with an equivalised disposable income below 40%, 50% and 70% of the national equivalised	Age groups: (
the at-risk-of-poverty	median income.	17; 18-64;			

threshold		65+, gender
EU: Persons with low	Share of the adult population (aged 25 years and over) whose highest level of education or training is ISCED 0, 1 or 2.	Age groups 25-
educational attainment		34; 35-54; 55-
		64; 65+; 25-64,
		gender
Low reading literacy	Share of 15 years old pupils who are at level 1 or below of the PISA combined reading literacy scale	Gender
performance of pupils		

Title	Programme year	Host country	Peer countries	Key theme
Local development agreements as a tool to stop segregation in vulnerable metropolitan areas	2004	Sweden	Belgium-Finland-Italy-Lithuania-Portugal-Spain- The Netherlands	 -Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants - Quality and accessibility of social services - Promoting active inclusion
The Rough Sleepers Unit (England)	2004	United Kingdom	Denmark- Finland- France- Luxemburg- Norway- Romania- Sweden	 Quality and accessibility of social services Homelessness and housing exclusion
Clearing: assistance for young people with special needs in their transition from school to working life	2004	Austria	Estonia-France-Greece- Italy- Lithuania- Norway	 Quality and accessibility of social services Children and families
Citizens' social support networks (HYVE)	2004	Finland	Austria - Belgium - Germany - Greece - Latvia - Malta - United_Kingdom	- Quality and accessibility of social services
Experiments in social activation (1996-2001)	2004	The Netherlands	Bulgaria - Latvia - Poland - Slovenia – Spain	 Promoting active inclusion Quality and accessibility of social services
The "Reception Platforms" to promote the integration of immigrants	2004	France	Cyprus- Czech Republic- Germany- Ireland- Sweden- Portugal	-Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants
Money advice and budgeting service	2004	Ireland	Denmark- Germany- Hungary- Luxembourg- Slovenia- The Netherlands- United Kingdom	Over-indebtedness and financial exclusion
Local alliances for the family: Reconciliation of work and family life	2004	Germany	Austria - Cyprus - Estonia - Hungary - Malta - Slovakia	- Children and families
Preventing the risks of exclusion of families with difficulties	2005	Italy	Bulgaria- Cyprus- Ireland- Malta- Poland- Romania	Children and families
Preventing and tackling homelessness	2005	Denmark	Czech Republic- Estonia- Germany- Latvia- Luxembourg- Poland- The Netherlands	 Quality and accessibility of social services Homelessness and housing exclusion
Field social work programmes in neighbourhoods threatened by social exclusion	2005	Czech Republic	Austria- Bulgaria- Romania- Slovakia- Spain- United Kingdom	 Integration of ethnic minorities Quality and accessibility of social services
Basic social services in rural settlements – Village and remote homestead community care-giving	2005	Hungary	Finland - Greece - Lithuania - Norway - Portugal – Slovenia	Quality and accessibility of social services
Pathways to social Integration for people with mental health	2005	Greece	Czech Republic - Estonia - France - Latvia - Malta - Poland – Romania	 Promoting active inclusion Health and long-term care

Annex 3. List of peer review meetings in the period 2004-2011 (seminars particularly linked to COPE's themes in bold type)

problems: the establishment of				
social cooperatives in Greece				
Minimum income and social	2005	Belgium	Austria - Estonia - Hungary - Luxembourg -	-Promoting active inclusion
integration institutional			Romania - Slovakia - The Netherlands	
arrangements				
Socio-Community Development -	2005	Portugal	Cyprus - Denmark - France - Hungary - Ireland -	- Governance
Mobilising all relevant bodies and			Italy - Malta - Sweden	
promoting the participation of				
people suffering exclusion				
Integrated Services in	2006	Sweden	Cyprus - Greece - Ireland - Norway - Poland - The	- Quality and accessibility of social services
Rehabilitation - On Coordination of			Netherlands - United Kingdom	- Health and long-term care
Organisation and Financing				
Sure Start	2006	United	France - Hungary - Latvia - Lithuania - Malta –	- Children and families
		Kingdom	Poland	
National strategy to prevent and	2006	Norway	Austria - Denmark - Estonia - Germany -	-Quality and accessibility of social services
tackle homelessness			Romania - Slovenia - Spain - Sweden	-Homelessness and housing exclusion
Social Inclusion cross cutting policy	2006	France	Austria - Belgium - Cyprus - Finland - Ireland -	- Interaction of social, economic and employment
tools - "Document de politique			Luxembourg - United Kingdom	policies
transversale" (DPT)				- Governance
Minimum Incomes and Women's	2006	Belgium	Czech Republic - Finland - Germany - Ireland -	- Ageing and providing adequate and sustainable
Poverty			Latvia - Portugal - United Kingdom	pensions
Municipal programme of shanty	2006	Spain	Bulgaria - Czech Republic - Greece - Hungary -	-Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants
towns eradication in Aviles			Portugal - Slovakia - Slovenia	-Homelessness and housing exclusion
(Asturias)				
Amnesty of debts: Amicable	2006	The	Denmark - France - Latvia - Luxembourg -	Over-indebtedness and financial exclusion
agreement and statutory solution		Netherlands	Sweden	
Access to care and health status	2006	Hungary	Austria - Bulgaria - Czech Republic - Estonia -	-Quality and accessibility of social services
inequalities in a context of			Finland - France - Luxembourg - Portugal -	-Health and long-term care
healthcare reform			Slovenia	
The future of social services of	2007	Belgium	Finland - France - Italy - Lithuania - Luxembourg	-Quality and accessibility of social services
general interest			-Poland	-Health and long-term care
ACCESS: Cottonera Community	2007	Malta	Cyprus - Hungary - Ireland - Lithuania - Portugal -	- Quality and accessibility of social services
Resource Centre			Sweden - United Kingdom	- Children and families
Freedom of choice and dignity for	2007	Sweden	Austria - Czech Republic - Ireland - Portugal –	-Quality and accessibility of social services

the elderly			The Netherlands	-Ageing and providing adequate and sustainable pensions -Health and long-term care
National Action Plan against Substandard Housing	2007	France	Belgium - Denmark - Latvia - Luxembourg - Malta -Romania	Homelessness and housing exclusion
Multi-regional Operational Programme to Combat Discrimination	2007	Spain	Bulgaria - Cyprus - Finland - Germany - Greece - Malta – Slovenia	-Promoting active inclusion
The NAPInclusion Social Inclusion Forum	2007	Ireland	Belgium - Bulgaria - France - Hungary - Slovakia - Spain - United Kingdom	- Governance
Active ageing strategies to strengthen social inclusion	2007	Finland	Denmark - Estonia - Germany - Hungary - Norway - Romania - Slovenia - The Netherlands	Ageing and providing adequate and sustainable pensions
Social aspects of human trafficking	2007	Denmark	Greece - Latvia - Norway - Poland - Slovakia	-Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants -Governance
Initiatives by the social partners for improving the labour market access of disadvantaged groups	2008	Austria	Finland - Ireland - Norway - Slovenia - Spain - United_Kingdom	-Promoting active inclusion
Public information on pension systems and pension system changes	2008	Poland	Bulgaria - Estonia - Germany - Hungary - Lithuania - Malta - Portugal - Slovakia - Sweden – United Kingdom	Ageing and providing adequate and sustainable pensions
The social economy from the perspective of active inclusion	2008	Belgium	Austria - Cyprus - Czech Republic - Greece - Slovakia - Slovenia – Sweden	-Promoting active inclusion - Interaction of social, economic and employment policies
Cost containment in the pharmaceutical sector: Innovative approaches to contracting while ensuring fair access to drugs	2008	Germany	Bulgaria - Finland - France - Luxembourg - Malta - Poland - Portugal - Slovenia – The Netherlands	-Quality and accessibility of social services -Health and long-term care
Support Fund for the reception and integration of immigrants and their educational support	2008	Spain	Czech Republic - Denmark - Germany - Greece - Italy - Latvia - The Netherlands	Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants
Social impact assessment	2008	Slovakia	Austria - Belgium - Bulgaria - Germany - Ireland - Norway - Romania	Governance
Getting women back into the labour market	2008	Germany	Cyprus - Denmark - Italy - Luxembourg - Malta - Poland - The Netherlands	-Promoting active inclusion - Interaction of social, economic and employment policies
Long-term care: How to organise affordable, sustainable long-term	2008	The Netherlands	Austria - Belgium - Estonia - Germany - Hungary - Poland - Romania - Slovenia - Sweden – United	Health and long-term care
---	------	--------------------	---	--
care given the constraints of collective versus individual		iteriendida	Kingdom	
arrangements and responsibilities				
Combining choice, quality and equity in social services	2009	Denmark	Estonia - Hungary - Italy - Lithuania - Portugal - Romania - Spain - The Netherlands - United Kingdom	Quality and accessibility of social services
Alzheimer's and other related diseases: coping with behavioural disorders in the patient's home	2009	France	Czech Republic - Finland - Germany - Luxembourg - Poland - Slovenia – The Netherlands – United Kingdom	Health and long-term care
Integrated programme for the social inclusion of Roma	2009	Greece	Finland - France - Germany - Hungary - Spain	Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants
Ensuring a functioning healthcare system in regions with declining and ageing populations	2009	Germany	Finland - France - Greece - Ireland - Portugal - Romania - Slovenia - United Kingdom	Health and long-term care
The City Strategy for tackling	2009	United	Austria - Bulgaria – Czech Republic - Greece -	-Children and families
unemployment and child poverty		Kingdom	Latvia - Lithuania - Norway - Portugal - Serbia	-Promoting active inclusion -Interaction of social, economic and employment policies
Developing well-targeted tools for the active inclusion of vulnerable people	2009	Norway	Austria - Cyprus - Ireland - Poland - Romania - Spain - United_Kingdom	-Promoting active inclusion
Counting the homeless - improving the basis for planning assistance	2009	Austria	Denmark - Germany - Hungary - Italy - Luxembourg- Norway - Slovenia - Sweden	Homelessness and housing exclusion
Measuring the impact of active inclusion and other policies to combat poverty and social exclusion	2009	France	Belgium - Bulgaria - Ireland - Latvia - Lithuania - Luxembourg - Malta - Portugal - Romania - The Netherlands	- Governance
Federal Foundation Mother and Child for pregnant women in emergency situations	2009	Germany	Bulgaria - Denmark - Greece - Hungary - Italy - Serbia	Children and families
Modernising and activating measures relating to work	2009	Spain	France - Lithuania - Luxembourg - Malta - Poland - Romania - Sweden - The Netherlands – United	-Promoting active inclusion -Health and long-term care

incapacity			Kingdom	
Promoting social inclusion of children in a disadvantaged rural environment - the microregion of Szecseny'	2010	Hungary	Croatia - Czech Republic - Italy - Portugal - Serbia - United Kingdom	 -Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants -Children and families
Achieving excellence in social service provision	2010	Romania	Belgium - Croatia - Estonia - Lithuania	Quality and accessibility of social services
Using Reference Budgets for drawing up the requirements of a minimum income scheme and assessing adequacy	2010	Belgium	Austria - Cyprus - Finland - France - Ireland - Italy - Luxembourg - Sweden	-Promoting active inclusion - Over- Indebtedness and financial exclusion
The Programme for developing local plans for social inclusion in Catalonia	2010	Spain	Bulgaria - Czech Republic - Latvia - Norway - Romania - Serbia - The Netherlands	- Governance
Achieving quality long-term care in residential facilities	2010	Germany	Austria - Cyprus - Czech Republic - Estonia – Finland - France - Luxembourg - Spain - Sweden	-Ageing and providing adequate and sustainable pensions -Health and long-term care
Building a comprehensive and participative strategy on homelessness	2010	Portugal	Denmark - Hungary - Ireland - Poland - Serbia - Spain - Finland	Homelessness and housing exclusion
Making a success of integrating immigrants into the labour market	2010	Norway	Austria - Finland - Greece - Italy - Latvia - Malta	 -Integration of ethnic minorities and immigrants -Promoting active inclusion -Interaction of social, economic and employment policies
The Finnish National Programme to reduce long-term homelessness	2010	Finland	Bulgaria - France - Hungary - Latvia - Norway - Portugal - Slovenia – The Netherlands - Sweden	-Homelessness and housing exclusion -Governance
A good place to grow older – national/local agreement	2010	United Kingdom	Cyprus – Denmark – Finland – Hungary – Romania - Spain	-Ageing and providing adequate and sustainable pensions -Governance
Building the tools to fight in-work poverty	2011	France	Belgium - Cyprus - Estonia - Greece - Ireland - Lithuania - Portugal - Slovenia - The Netherlands	-Promoting active inclusion - Interaction of social, economic and employment policies
Building a coordinated strategy for parenting support	2011	France	Belgium - Bulgaria - Croatia - Czech Republic - Denmark - Estonia - Germany - Italy – Malta	- Children and families
The setting of national poverty targets	2011	Ireland	Belgium - Bulgaria - Croatia - Finland - Latvia - Malta - Norway - Romania - Slovakia - United	- Interaction of social, economic and employment policies

			Kingdom	- Governance
Improving the efficiency of social protection	2011	Portugal	Belgium - Croatia - Italy - Latvia - Lithuania - Malta - Romania - Slovenia	- Governance
Effects of life courses on women's pensions	2011	Germany	Austria - Czech Republic - France - Hungary - Italy - Lithuania - Luxembourg - Spain - Sweden - The Netherlands	 Ageing and providing adequate and sustainable pensions
Developing effective ex ante social impact assessment with a focus on methodology, tools and data sources	2011	Belgium	Austria - Cyprus - Finland - France - Greece - Ireland - Luxembourg - Norway - Spain	Governance
Closing the gap - in search for ways to deal with expanding care needs and limited resources	2011	Sweden	Bulgaria - Cyprus - Denmark - Estonia - Germany - Luxembourg - Slovenia	-Quality and accessibility of social services -Health and long-term care
Balancing the security and affordability of funded pension schemes	2011	The Netherlands	Belgium - Denmark - Germany - Ireland - Italy - Lithuania - Poland - Romania - Slovenia	-Ageing and providing adequate and sustainable pensions

1. Delivering action to fight poverty and exclusion across the policy spectrum				
Access to labour market				
Present a Communication providing an in-depth assessment of the implementation of active inclusion strategies at national level, including the effectiveness of minimum income schemes, and of the way in which EU programmes can be used to support active inclusion.	2012			
Social Protection and access to essential services				
Present a White Paper on Pensions, to jointly address sustainability and adequacy of pensions in the post-crisis context, including reflections on how the EU can best support Member State efforts aimed at securing the adequacy of pension benefits and preventing and mitigating poverty among pensioners, both women and men.	2011	Commission Work Programme		
Develop the Voluntary European Quality Framework on social services at a sectoral level, including in the field of long-term care and homelessness.	2011-2013			
Launch a European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing. The Partnership will aim at promoting social innovation for the elderly, more equal and affordable access to modernised and responsive care services (i.e. specific aged related care, home based care) and new medical products and devices.	2011-2013	"Innovation Union"		
Support initiatives for active ageing at all levels of governance and by a wide range of non-governmental stakeholders (social partners, NGOs, businesses) in the context of a European Year for Active Ageing in 2012.	2011-2012			
Undertake an assessment of the efficiency and effectiveness of health expenditure, including in relation to the issues highlighted in the communication on "Solidarity in Health: reducing health inequalities in the EU". A Report on Health Inequalities scheduled for 2012 will highlight the mutual links between poor health and poverty.	2011-2012			
Present in 2011 a legislative initiative to ensure access to certain basic banking services and call on the banking sector to submit a self-regulatory initiative geared towards improving the transparency and comparability of bank charges.	2011	"Single Market Act"		
Establish a network of experts on health systems reforms. It will aim at developing new models of more integrated care, as well as promoting innovative and sustainable financing of health care and medical services.	2011			
Education and youth policies				
Propose a Recommendation on child poverty outlining common principles and effective monitoring tools to combat and prevent poverty in early age.	2012			
Present a Communication and a proposal for a Council Recommendation on policies to combat early school leaving.	2011	"Youth on the Move"		
Launch a wide-ranging initiative to promote more effective interventions at all levels of education against the cycle of disadvantage This will include a specific Commission Communication on "Equity in education and training systems to support the European inclusive growth.	2011			
Adopt a Communication with a set of proposals on Early Childhood Education and Care (ECEC) to help Member States strengthen their provision and promote their learning from each other's good practice.	2011	"Youth on the Move"		
Ensure that any future EU initiatives in the field of youth will include proposals which will, amongst other things, aim to combat poverty and social exclusion among disadvantaged youth through non-formal learning and participative methods.	2011			

Annex 4. The European Platform against Poverty and Social Exclusion: List of key initiatives

genda for ope"
_

Present proposals in 2011 to make sure that public sector websites (and websites providing basic services to citizens) are fully accessible by 2015 to people with disabilities, and promote the identification and exchange of best practices in the area of e-	2011	"Digital Agenda for Europe"
Inclusion.		
Monitor the implementation of the new EU internal energy market legislation, which entails some specific provision on access	2011	
of vulnerable customers and requires Member States to take appropriate measures, such as: formulating national energy	(transposition	
action plans, providing benefits in social security systems to ensure the necessary electricity supply, providing for support for	deadline)	
energy efficiency improvements, addressing energy poverty where identified.		
Promote and support the development and implementation of energy efficiency measures (refurbishments of buildings and	2011-2015	
consumer information) targeting in particular vulnerable consumers and marginalised communities through various financial		
instruments including the use revenues from auctioned Emission Trading System allowances (Directive 2009/29/EC).		
Provide a voluntary tourism exchange mechanism between Member States, enabling in particular certain key-groups such as	ongoing	
young or elderly people, people with reduced mobility and low-income families to travel, particularly during the low season (Calypso).		
Support training of workers in the sea-related sectors in need of professional qualifications, with a view to promote	2011-2013	
employment and contribute to sustainable management of coastal areas.		
External dimension		
Promote the EU agenda for combating poverty and social exclusion worldwide and in particular in enlargement and	2011-2020	
neighbourhood policy countries. Invite enlargement and neighbourhood policy countries to consider setting explicit and		
ambitious targets on poverty reduction of disadvantaged communities, in particular Roma.		
2. Making EU Funding deliver on the social inclusion and social cohesion objectives of Europ	e 2020	
In line with the Budget Review, the European Social Fund should be used to sustain Member States' efforts to achieve the	2011-2013	
Europe 2020 objectives, including the poverty reduction target. This implies that the necessary resources would be devoted		
to social inclusion while making the access of the relevant stakeholders to those resources easier.		
The Commission will aim at facilitating access to global grants for small organisations and an improved access to funding for groups with multiple disadvantages and at high risk of poverty.		
Review the European Social Fund, taking into account the core principles spelled out in the Budget Review, to enhance its		
contribution to the achievement of the objectives and headline targets set by Europe 2020, in particular the poverty reduction target. The following aspects will be explored:		
Work on simplification to facilitate the use of the ESF by organisations delivering inclusion policies;		
Reinforcing support to disadvantaged groups like the Roma and other vulnerable people, including people living in institutions.		
Support the inclusion of digital literacy and competences under one of the priorities for ESF funding for the 2014-20 period		
with a view to providing targeted initiatives aimed at people experiencing poverty and social exclusion.		
Stepping up integrated approaches to fight poverty in certain deprived areas.		

		-
Propose for the new Cohesion Policy post-2013 a Common Strategic Framework (CSF) that will ensure coherence and complementarity between the European Regional Development Fund, the European Social Fund, the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development and the European Fisheries Fund. The CSF would identify EU priorities to address the European poverty target and the actions set out in this flagship initiative.	2011-2013	
Put forward proposals in 2011 - in line with the 5 th cohesion report - for the new Cohesion Policy regulatory framework for the period post-2013, which will simplify access to the structural funds for local groups and ensure greater complementarity and synergies between EU funds to promote community-based approaches, including for urban regeneration.	2010-2013	
Make full use of financial instruments and in particular, the European Social Fund, the European Regional Development Fund and the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development to support social and territorial cohesion, with a particular focus on combating urban and rural deprivation and promoting community-based approaches for local development, including urban regeneration.	2010-2013	
Promote the targeted use of Structural Funds (ESF and ERDF) to support the shift from institutional to community-base care in the areas of parentless children, disabled people and the elderly.	2010-2013	
Give all necessary technical support and guidance to Member States to implement the amendments to the ERDF regulation adopted in May 2010 to support housing interventions in favour of marginalised communities ²⁴ , and promote the implementation of the new regulation with dedicated seminars.	2011-2013	
Promote the mobilisation and implementation of the Structural Funds, including the European Regional Development Fund and the European Social Fund in support of Roma inclusion in the current and future programming period, in the framework of an integrated approach, including urban regeneration, housing, childcare, health care facilities, education and training.	2011-2013	
Ensure that the objectives of poverty reduction social inclusion are duly reflected in 7th (2007-2013) Framework Programme on Research and Innovation and its possible successor, in line with the Council conclusions of 26 May 2010 on the Social Dimension of the European Research Area (ERA).	2010-2013	"Innovation Union"
Consider, in view of the financial framework post-2013, the following objectives for the European Agricultural Fund for Rural Development: support the involvement of local actors in the decision-making process at local levels; provide support to small-scale farmers; support the development of social infrastructures and social services in rural areas; provide support for training and capacity-building activities to farmers, forestry and food-processing managers.	2011-2012	
Explore the possibility of a joint initiative to support training and knowledge building for non agricultural businesses and people in rural areas working outside agricultural, food industry and forestry sectors to improve their capacity to cope with competitiveness challenges and ensure stable income flows.	2011	
Ensure proper implementation of the Food distribution programme for the most deprived persons in the EU, reaching out to 13 million European citizens each year.	2011-2013	
Ensure proper implementation of the School Fruit Scheme launched in 2009 in order to encourage good eating habits among young people, including from low income families, by supplying them with fruit and vegetable at school.	2011-2013	

²⁴ REGULATION (EU) No 437/2010 OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL of 19.5.2010 amending Regulation (EC) No 1080/2006 on the European Regional Development Fund as regards the eligibility of housing interventions in favour of marginalised communities.

Ensure proper implementation of the School Milk Scheme, which aims to encourage consumption of health dairy products among children, contribute to healthy way of living and to nutritional education.	2011-2013	
The use of micro-credits should be underpinned by capacity building initiatives at local level and possible legislation changes	2011-2013	
in Member States favouring their use by marginalised and vulnerable communities, such as the JASMINE initiative		
Developing an evidence-based approach to social innovations and reforms		
Launch a major initiative to promote social innovation. The initiative would: establish a "high-level steering committee" to	2011-2012	
provide advice and guidance on developing EU actions in this field; create a European research excellence network promoting		
capacity building for the design and evaluation of social innovation programmes; launch a European research project in the		
area of social innovation aimed at devising workable methods and concrete impact measurements; define common principles		
about designing, implementing and evaluating small scale projects designed to test policy innovations (or reforms) before		
adopting them more widely (social experiments); ensure communication and awareness raising about relevant ongoing social		
innovation; make use of existing financial instruments, including PROGRESS, to support evidence-based social innovation and		
experimentation.		
Exploring the best ways and formulate proposals for social innovation in the new financial framework, including through the	2011-2012	
ESF and possibly new financing facilities.		
Develop cross-sectoral approaches that articulate actions in several related policy fields such as employment, education,	2011-2012	
health, youth, housing, migration and social protection that have the potential to lead to social innovation.		
3. Promoting a partnership approach and the social economy		
Promote the sustainable involvement of civil society through the PROGRESS programme by providing support to key EU wide	Ongoing	
networks as well as through regular exchanges and partnerships between a wider set of stakeholders in specific priority areas,		
such as active inclusion, child poverty, Roma inclusion, homelessness and financial inclusion.		
Elaborate voluntary guidelines on stakeholders' involvement (and the participation of people experiencing poverty) in the	2011-12	
definition and the implementation of policy actions and programmes to address poverty and exclusion, and promote their		
implementation at national, regional and local level.		
Organise regular exchanges with stakeholders on key thematic priorities and in particular: active inclusion, child poverty,	As of 2011	
Roma inclusion, homelessness and housing exclusion, financial inclusion.		
Cooperate with Social Partners to support the implementation of the Framework Agreement on the Active Inclusion of people	Ongoing	
further from the labour market.		
Propose measures to improve the quality of the legal structures relating to foundations, mutual societies and cooperatives in	2011-2012	"Single Market Act"
order to optimise their functioning and facilitate their development within the single market.		
Develop awareness-raising actions on social economy's benefits targeting key public and private actors (including public	2011-2013	
services and entrepreneurs) and enhance access of social economy actors to relevant EU financial programmes, among others		
		1
by supporting the development of partnerships around active inclusion measures.		
	2011	"Single Market Act"
by supporting the development of partnerships around active inclusion measures.	2011	"Single Market Act"

Promote actions to increase understanding and use of social inclusion considerations in public procurement.	2011-2013	
Develop a new policy initiative on CSR in 2011, concentrating on CSR reporting/disclosure, business and human rights, the international aspects of CSR, and especially the employment and enterprise aspects of Europe 2020.	2011	
4. Stepping up policy coordination between the Member States		
Assist and advise Member States in view of the definition of national targets for the reduction of poverty and exclusion and of the most appropriate policies and reforms to meet the targets.	Ongoing	
Based on the experience of the first European Semester of Europe 2020, the Commission will discuss with Member States and other institutional and non-institutional actors, how to best adapt the working methods of the Social Open Method of Coordination to the new governance of Europe 2020. The Commission will present a report summarising the orientations emerged and the follow up it will give to it.	2011	
Support the work of the Social Protection Committee, including work of the Indicators Subgroup, to improve and develop social indicators, disaggregated by relevant target group, enhancing their quality and timely availability.	Ongoing	
Undertake a comprehensive assessment of national policies in the field of social protection and social inclusion, including links with anti-discrimination and equality, before the mid-term review of the Europe 2020 strategy, in close cooperation with the Social Protection Committee.	2013-2014	
Support and enhance mutual learning and transfer of best practices, notably by linking activities in this area to the new initiative on social innovations.	2011-2012	
5. Building on the legacy of the European Year 2010 against poverty and social exclusion	I	-
Strengthen the dialogue with the European Parliament, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions, in particular through regular exchanges on progress towards the poverty target.	Ongoing	
Continue an open, transparent and regular dialogue with stakeholders and civil society including relevant faith based organisations on the themes of poverty and social inclusion, in line with Art.17 of the Treaty on the functioning of the European Union.	Ongoing	
The Commission will work with other EU institutions and bodies to transform the Annual Round Table on Poverty and Exclusion into a wider Annual Convention of the European Platform designed to bring together all relevant actors. This event will take place in autumn, in proximity of the International Day for the Eradication of Poverty. The Annual Convention will take stock of progress made towards the headline target, review the implementation of the activities announced under the Platform and provide suggestions for future action.	2011	

Dimension	Indicator	Definition	Data source
	At risk of poverty or social exclusion rate (total population)	The sum of persons who are: at-risk-of-poverty or severely materially deprived or living in households with very low work intensity as a share of the total population	Eurostat – EU SILC
	At-risk-of-poverty rate (AROP) (total population) + poverty threshold (in PPS)	Share of persons aged 0+ with an equivalised disposable income below 60% of the national equivalised median income	Eurostat – EU SILC
Europe 2020	Severe material deprivation rate (SMD) (total population)	Share of population living in households lacking at least 4 items out of the following 9 items: i) to pay rent or utility bills, ii) keep home adequately warm, iii) face unexpected expenses, iv) eat meat, fish or a protein equivalent every second day, v) a week holiday away from home, or could not afford (even if wanted to) vi) a car, vii) a washing machine, viii) a colour TV, or ix) a telephone.	Eurostat – EU SILC
	Share of population(0-59) in very low work intensity households (VLWI)	People aged 0-59, living in households, where working-age adults (18-59) work less than 20% of their total work potential during the past year.	Eurostat – EU SILC
Intensity of poverty risk	Relative poverty risk gap rate (total population)	Difference between the median equivalised income of persons aged 0+ below the at- risk-of poverty threshold and the threshold itself, expressed as a percentage of the at- risk-of poverty threshold.	Eurostat – EU SILC
Income inequalities	Income quintile ratio S80/S20 (total population)	The ratio of total income received by the 20% of the country's population with the highest income (top quintile) to that received by the 20% of the country's population with the lowest income (lowest quintile). Income must be understood as equivalised disposable income.	Eurostat – EU SILC
Child poverty	At risk of poverty or social exclusion rate (0-17)	The sum of children (0-17) who are: at-risk-of-poverty or severely materially deprived or living in households with very low work intensity (below 20%) as a share of the total population	Eurostat – EU SILC
Effectiveness of social protection	Impact of social transfers (excluding pensions) on poverty reduction6 (total population)	Reduction in the at-risk-of-poverty rate in % due to social transfers, calculated as the percentage difference between the at-risk-of-poverty rate before and after social transfers	Eurostat – EU SILC
systems	At-risk-of-poverty rate for the population	Share of persons aged (0-59) with an equivalised disposable income below	Eurostat – EU SILC

Annex 5. The indicators of the Social Protection Performance Monitor – SPPM

	living in very low work intensity	60% of the national equivalised median income who live in households	
	households (0-59)	where working-age adults (18-59) work less than 20% of their total work	
		potential during the past year.	
Social		Individuals who are classified as employed according to their most frequent	
	In-work at-risk-of-poverty rate	activity status and are at risk of poverty. The distinction is made between	Eurostat – EU SILC
consequences	(18-64)	"wage and salary employment plus self-employment" and "wage and salary	
of labour market		employment" only.	
situation	Long-term unemployment rate	Total long-term unemployed population (≥12 months' unemployment; ILO	Eurostat – LFS
Situation	(active population, 15+)	definition) as a proportion of total active population.	Eurostat – LFS
	Youth unemployment ratio (15-24)	Total unemployed young people (ILO definition), 15-24 years, as a share of	Eurostat – LFS
	routh unemployment ratio (15-24)	total population in the same age group	Eurostat – LFS
		Share of persons aged 18 to 24 who have only lower secondary education	
Youth exclusion	Early loavers from education and training	(their highest level of education or training attained is 0, 1 or 2 according to	
	Early leavers from education and training (18-24)	the 1997 International Standard Classification of Education – ISCED 97) and	Eurostat – LFS
		have not received education or training in the four weeks preceding the	
		survey.	
Active ageing	Employment rate of older workers (55-64)	Persons in employment in age group 55-64, as a proportion of total	Eurostat – LFS
Active ageing		population in the same age group.	Eurosial – LFS
	At risk of poverty or social exclusion rate (65+)	The sum of elderly (65+) who are: at-risk-of-poverty or severely materially	
		deprived or living in households with very low work intensity as a share of	Eurostat – EU SILO
Pension	(05+)	the total population in the same age group.	
adequacy	Median relative income ratio of elderly	Median equivalised disposable income of people aged 65+ as a ratio of	Eurostat – EU SILC
aucquacy	people	income of people aged 0-64.	
	Aggregate replacement ratio	Median individual pension income of 65-74 relative to median individual	Eurostat – EU SILC
		earnings of 50-59, excluding other social benefits	
Access to	Housing cost overburden rate	Percentage of the population living in a household where total housing costs	
decent housing	(total population)	(net of housing allowances) represent more than 40% of the total disposable	Eurostat – EU SILC
		household income (net of housing allowances).	
	Share of the population with self-	Total self-reported unmet need for medical examination for the following	
Health	reported upmet need for medical care	three reasons: financial barriers + waiting times + too far to travel.	Eurostat – EU SIL
	(total population)		

Healthy life years at 65 (total population,	Number of years that a person at 65 is still expected to live in a healthy	Furestat
breakdown by gender)	condition. To be interpreted jointly with life expectancy (included in the SPPM contextual information).	Eurostat